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PROCEEDINGS HELD ON 26  SEPTEMBER 2019   

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Good morn ing  we  a re  con t inu ing  the 

inqu i ry  in to  Sec t ion  59  o f  the Med ica l  Schemes Ac t .   I  wonder  i f  the re a re 

representa t ives  o f  Medscheme in  the  room.   No  one  a l r igh t  we l l  hope fu l l y  

they  w i l l  jo in  us  dur ing  the  course  o f  the  day.   Never the less  we  –  I  see 

the re ’s  a  Dr  Ngumbe la  in  the  room,  yes  thank you.   We wi l l  hear 

tes t imony f rom Dr  Ngumbe la  th is  morn ing .   A re  you  by  yourse l f  Dr 

Ngumbe la  o r  …( in te rvenes)?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  No I ’m …( ind is t inc t ) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Wil l  you  jus t  swi tch  on the  mic ro phone .  10 

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  I ’m accompan ied  by  my pa t ien ts  who a re 

aggr ieved ,  Mr  Buy is i le  Pan ,  Mr  Phumezo  Mntusanto ,  my daugh te r  

Mand lakaz i  Ngumbe la and my pa t ien t  Baba lwa  S ik i t i .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Al r ight  bu t  you w i l l  be g iv ing  the 

ev idence?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  I  w i l l  be  g iv ing  the ev idence and they w i l l  

ass is t  me where they  can  bu t  they ’ve  a lso  go t  the i r  ev idence  to  g ive .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Al r igh t  can  I  take  your oa th  o r  

a f f i rmat ion .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Al l  fou r  o f  us  a re  go ing  to  be  speak ing .    20 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Yes I  jus t  wan t  to  ask  you  whe ther  you ’ l l  

be  tak ing  the  oa th  o r  the  a f f i rmat ion?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  The oa th.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Okay wi l l  you  say  a f te r  me,  I  and  your 

name? 
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DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  I ,  Nonkos i  Ngumbe la .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Swear  tha t  the ev idence that  I  sha l l  

g ive .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Swear  tha t  the  ev idence  tha t  I  sha l l  g ive .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Sha l l  be  the  t ru th .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Sha l l  be  the  t ru th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   The who le  t ru th .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  The who le  t ru th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   And noth ing  but  the  t ru th .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  And no th ing but  the  t ru th .  10 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   I f  so  ra ise  your  r igh t  hand  and  say  so 

he lp  me God.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  So he lp  me God.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Thank you .   Who e lse  is  i t  –  shou ld  I  

s ta r t  f rom my ex t reme le f t  so ,  what ’s  your  su rname?   

MR BUYISILE  PAN:   Pan ,  P-A-N.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Yes Mr  Pan?  

MR BUYISILE  PAN:   Buy is i le  Pan .    

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUK AITOBI :   Al r igh t  Mr  Pan  wi l l  you take  the  oa th?  

MR BUYISILE  PAN:   (No  aud ib le  answer) .  20 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Yes so  say a f te r  me,  I  and  your  name.  

MR BUYISILE  PAN:   I  Buy is i le  Pan .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Swear  tha t  the ev idence that  I  sha l l  

g ive .  

MR BUYISILE  PAN:   The  ev idence  tha t  I  sha l l  g ive .  
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ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Sha l l  be  the  t ru th .  

MR BUYISILE  PAN:   Sha l l  be  the  t ru th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   The who le  t ru th .  

MR BUYISILE  PAN:   The  who le  t ru th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   And noth ing  but  the  t ru th .  

MR BUYISILE  PAN:   No th ing but  the  t ru th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   I f  so  ra ise  your  r igh t  hand  and  say  so 

he lp  me God.  

MR BUYISILE  PAN:   Yes .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Say so  he lp  me God.  10 

MR BUYISILE  PAN:   Oh  he lp  me God.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Thank you .   And  the  gen t leman nex t  to  

you ,  wha t ’s  your  name?  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO:   I ’m Phumeza  George  Mntusan to .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Mntusan to .   Okay  so  Mr  Mntusan to  w i l l  

your  say  your  name af te r  me,  I  and  your  names?  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO:   I ,  Phumeza  Mntusanto .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Swear  tha t  the ev idence that  I  sha l l  

g ive .  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO:   Swear  the  ev idence that  I  sha l l  g ive .  20 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Sha l l  be  the  t ru th .  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO:   Sha l l  be  the t ru th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   The who le  t ru th .  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO:   The  who le  t ru th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   And noth ing  but  the  t ru th .  
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MR BUYISILE  PAN:   And  no th ing  bu t  the  t ru th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   I f  so  ra ise  your  r igh t  hand  and  say  so 

he lp  me God.  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO:   So  he lp  me God.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Thank you.   I s  your  daughte r  a lso?  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO:   No .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Oh she ’s  jus t  accompany ing .   And  then 

i t ’s  miss?  

MS BABALWA SIKITI :   Baba lwa  S ik i t i .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Sik i t i ?  10 

MS BABALWA SIKITI :   Yes .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   So wi l l  you take  the oa th  as we l l?  

MS BABALWA SIKITI :   Yes  I  w i l l .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Al r igh t  so  w i l l  you  say  a f te r  me,  I  and 

your  fu l l  names?  

MS BABALWA SIKITI :   I ,  Baba lwa S ik i t i .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITO BI :   Swear  tha t  the ev idence that  I  sha l l  

g ive .  

MS BABALWA SIKITI :   Swear  tha t  t he  ev idence  tha t  I  sha l l  g ive .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Sha l l  be  the  t ru th .  20 

MS BABALWA SIKITI :   Sha l l  be  the  t ru th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   The who le  t ru th .  

MS BABALWA SIKIT I :   The who le  t ru th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   And noth ing  but  the  t ru th .  

MS BABALWA SIKITI :   And  no th ing  bu t  the t ru th .  
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ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   I f  so  p lease  ra ise  your  r igh t  hand  and 

say  so  he lp  me God.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Say so  he lp  me God.  

MS BABALWA SIKITI :   So  he lp  me God.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Thank you .   Dr  Ngumbe la  you  can  take 

us  th rough ,  we  have  rece ived  your  wr i t ten  submiss ion  bu t  you 

…( in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Yes you  have bu t  I ’ ve  no t iced  tha t  the  pages 

a re  no t  comp le te .   I  had  a t tached  the le t te rs  f rom Medscheme,  I  th ink  fou r  

le t te rs  f rom Medscheme and  apparen t ly  the  one  had  been  miss ing .   Four 10 

l e t te rs  f rom Medscheme and I  was  supposed  to  have  –  my pages  a re  123 

bu t  I  see here tha t  you  end  at  page  105 .    

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUK AITOBI :   We do  have  le t te rs  f rom Medscheme.    

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  No I  jus t  g ive  you  one  that  was  miss ing  and 

then  the  con t ract  f rom  –  the  spec imen o f  the  con t rac t  be tween  IPA and 

myse l f  those  a re  the ones  that  I  g ive  th is  morn ing .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOB I :   Yes.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  But  because  tha t  one  was miss ing a  who le  

bunch  of  le t te rs ,  the re ’s  f i ve  o f  them ,  f rom Medscheme tha t  I  was 

supposed to  hand  in  bu t  I  handed  in  fo r,  I  missed  the  one  f rom Bon i tas 20 

and  I  don ’ t  see  them here ,  the re ’s  on ly  . . . ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   The le t te r  f rom Bon i tas  we’ve  a lso 

…( in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  You go t  tha t  one  wh ich  is  the  one I  handed 

th is  morn ing  bu t  you ’ re  supposed  to  have two  le t te rs  f rom Medscheme 
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and f rom Bon i tas o f  the  17 t h  March  2018 ,  two  le t te rs  f rom Medscheme 

f rom Bon i tas  and  the  o ther  med ica l  a ids f rom Apr i l  and  one  le t te r  in  May.    

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Al r igh t .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  You ’ve  go t  tha t?  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   No.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Because  I  d id  b ind  the  papers  tha t  I  sen t  and 

I  had  sen t  them to  you  but  I  don ’ t  know why they ’ re  miss ing .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Al r igh t  so  jus t  te l l  me  the  le t te rs  you 

th ink  we  a re  miss ing  wha t  a re  the  da tes?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  The 27 t h  o f  March  tha t ’s  a  le t te r  o f  10 

ver i f i ca t ion  o f  se rv ices  f rom Medscheme there  were  two  . . . ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   We’ve  go t  the  27 t h  March  f rom Bon i tas 

bu t  you  say …( in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  No tha t  one  I  had  not  inc luded in  the  pack 

tha t ’s  why  I  g ive  in  th is  morn ing  bu t  the re ’s  ano ther  one  f rom Medscheme.   

The  one  tha t  l i s ts  a l l  the  o ther s  AECI ,  Parmed,  P OLMED,  MBMed and  so 

on  tha t  –  bu t  I  re fe r  to  i t  in  my submiss ions .   So  on the  27 t h  March  I  

rece ived  two  le t te rs  one  say ing  Bon i tas  the o ther  say ing Medscheme.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Al r igh t  wha t  e lse  do  you  say  we  a re 

miss ing?  20 

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  On the  17 t h  Apr i l  I  rece ived  two  le t te rs  tha t 

says  payments to  your  p rac t ice ,  tha t ’s  when  they suspended  my 

payments.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Okay so  we ’ve  go t  one  f rom  Medscheme.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  17 t h  Apr i l?  
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ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Ja  and  Bon i tas .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  I t ’s  page wha t?  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Page 121  and  123 .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Oh you  go t  them?  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Yes.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMB ELA:  And then  there  is  one  tha t  says  te rmina t ion 

o f  se rv ices  tha t  i s  10  o f  May.    

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   We’ve  go t  tha t  a t  page  125 .    

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  125 ,  okay  so  i t  must  be  a  –  i t  i s  a  red  fo lde r.   

I ’m g lad  you  have  them because  we re fe r  to  the m in  th is  le t te r.  10 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Al r igh t .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  My name as  has been  sa id  is  Nonkosi  

Ngumbe la I ’m a  med ica l  doc to r,  I ’m a  GP by  p ro fess ion .   I  qua l i f ied  a t  

Wi ts  Un ive rs i t y  in  1983  and I ’ ve  been work ing  as  a  GP in  Eas t  London  fo r  

the  pas t  30  years ,  which  is  more  than  30  years ,  and  I ’ ve  t r ied  my bes t  in  

a l l  those 30 years  to  p rov ide  to  the  bes t  o f  my ab i l i t y  the  se rv ices  to  my 

pa t ien ts  and  tha t  inc luded  p ro tec t ing  the i r  p r ivacy  and  the i r  d ign i t y.    

And the  med ica l  a ids  know tha t  I  am b lack because  there  is  no 

co r respondence  where  they  don ’ t  ment ion  my name and my name is  

obv ious ly  o f  a  b lack  Sou th  Af r ican .   Whenever  I  phone  and  I  press  my 20 

prac t ice  number  i t  au tomat ica l l y  b r ings  up  my name so  they  know tha t  I ’m 

a  b lack  doc to r.   And  I  w an t  to  a lso descr ibe  my p rac t ice .    

My p rac t ice  I  se rve  100% b lack  pa t ien ts ,  100% o f  the  pa t ients  

tha t  chose  me a re  b lack  and  i t ’s  workers  and  the i r  fami l ies,  i t ’s  the 

e lde r ly,  the  ve ry  s ick ,  the unemployed ,  tha t  i s  the  ma jo r i t y  o f  my workers ,  
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o f  course  I ’ ve  go t  p ro fess iona ls  and  po l i t i c ians  and  so  on  in  the mix  bu t  

the ma jo r i t y  o f  my workers  a re  the  work ing  c lass and the re fo re the 

med ica l  a ids  they  use w i l l  be  in  the  lower  op t ions  fo r  ins tance  Bon i tas  I ’ l l  

have  the ma jo r i t y  o f  them be ing  on  Boncap .    

Wi th  D iscovery  in  the  30  years  I ’ ve  never  seen I  hear  the re ’s  

D iscovery  Execu t ive  and  Comprehens ive  those  peop le  don ’ t  usua l ly  use 

my p rac t ice ,  most  o f  my pa t ien ts  use KeyCare ,  Pr imaryCare  and KeyCare 

P lus .   GEMS most  o f  my pa t ien ts  w i l l  use those  op t ions  tha t  are  ca l led 

Sapph i re  and  Bery l  I  don ’ t  have the  Onyx ,  maybe I  have one pa t ien t  on 

the  Onyx  the  o thers  are  on  the  lower  opt ion.   10 

And the lower  op t ions  somet imes do  no t  a l low pa t ien ts  to  go  to  

v is i t  p r iva te  spec ia l i s ts ,  they  don ’ t  a l low pa t ien ts  to  be  admi t te d  to  p r iva te 

hosp i ta ls  bu t  the  su rpr is ing  th ing  is  tha t  I  once  looked  th rough  the  resu l ts  

o f  D iscovery  they a re the cash  cows o f  the  med ica l  a ids .   They  w i l l  say 

they  d idn ’ t  make  money f rom the  o ther  –  the  Execu t ive  and  so  on bu t  they 

make  money f rom KeyCa re  and  KeyCare  P lus .    

Bu t  because  i t ’s  lower  op t ions  you  ge t  a  f ixed  amount ,  they w i l l  

pay  you  R320,00  to  R390 ,00  inc lus ive  –  every th ing  inc lus ive  so  you ’ re  

ge t t ing  pa id  fo r  consu l ta t ion  fo r  examine  –  fo r  consu l ta t ion  fo r  t rea tment ,  

a l l  the  med ica t ion  tha t  you ’ re  go ing  to  use  to  g ive  the  pa t ient ,  a l l  the 20 

minor  p rocedures i t ’s  a l l  inc lus ive so you ge t  a  package  and they  g ive 

them a  l im i ted  number  o f  v is i t s  pe r  year.   So  tha t ’ s  most  o f  my pa t ien ts .   

So  cod ing  the re makes  no d i f fe rence ,  you  jus t  ge t  a  round f igu re and  they 

agree  they ’ re  go ing  to  pay  th is  much  per  year.    

And so  I ’ ve  been  p rac t ic ing  l i ke  th is  fo r  30  years ,  you  g row wi th  



CMS : SECTION 59 INVESTIGATION : 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 – DAY 11 
  
 

 Page 10 of 80 
 

 

the p rac t ice so as the  t ime went  I  ended  up  focuss ing  most ly  on  ch ron ic  

d iseases  management ,  tha t  i s  HIV,  A IDS,  d iabe tes ,  hype r tens ion ,  ca rd iac 

d isease  so  tha t  was  my ma in  focus  bu t  o f  course  then  the  age  group  gets 

o lde r  as the  more years  you spend the re .   The  ch i ld ren  tha t  used  to  p lay 

w i th  my s te thoscope when they  were  young  a re  doc to rs  now,  some o f  

them are  spec ia l i s ing so  I ’ l l  be  re fe r r ing  pa t ien ts  to  them that ’s  how a 

p rac t ice  g rows in  our  commun i t ies .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Dr Ngumbe la  where  exact ly  i s  your p rac t ice 

loca ted?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  I t ’s  loca ted in  the  –  in  downtown East  London 10 

what  is  ca l led  the shabby par t  o f  to wn but  the  pa t ien ts  come f rom the 

townsh ips,  they  come f rom the  v i l lages,  i t ’s  near  a  tax i  rank so  they  come 

f rom those  a reas .    

I ’ ve  never  had  any  p rob lems wi th  med ica l  a ids .   The  re la t ionsh ip  

I  had  w i th  Medscheme was tha t  the  cont rac t  you  s igned  you  a re  an  IPA 

Founda t ion  –  the re ’s  an  IPA Founda t ion  most  docto rs  be long  to  tha t  IPA 

and they  nego t ia te  the  con t racts  fo r  you.   So w i th  Medscheme l i ke  I  

showed th is  morn ing  the  cont rac t  i s  nego t ia ted  by  the  IPA founda t ion  on 

your  beha l f  and  you  become  –  and then  w i th  some o f  the  med ica l  a ids  the 

pa t ien t  has  to  choose a  doc to r  so  you ’ l l  f ind  tha t  you ’ re  the  on ly  p rov ider  20 

fo r  tha t  pa t ien t .   They can  change  fo r  the  fo l lowing  year  bu t  the  year  they 

choose  you  they  can  change  every  month  any  way i f  they  –  bu t  they  can ’ t  

change  in  the beg inn ing  o f  the  month .   

So  I  was  the  on ly  prov ider  fo r  some o f  the  med ica l  a ids  l i ke  

MBMed where the pat ien ts  chose  me spec i f i ca l l y.   So  I  had  no  d i rec t ,  l i ke  
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a l l  doc to rs ,  no  d i rec t  con t rac t  w i th  Medscheme.   The  con t rac t  I  had  was 

w i th  IPA and  the re was an agreement  tha t  the re w i l l  be  peer  rev iews.   

They  ment ioned abou t  cod ing ,  wha t  s t ruc tu res  wou ld  happen.   They 

ment ioned the  consen t  in  the con t rac t ,  the  consen t  to  g ive  c l in ica l  

in fo rmat ion  where  there ’s  red  f lagg ing  to  g ive  the  c l in ica l  i n fo rmat ion  to  a  

c l in ica l  commi t tee  not  to  a  man s i t t ing  in  Johannesburg  whose  hea l th 

qua l i f i ca t ions  in  the f ie ld  we  do  no t  know.  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  Dr Ngumbe la  can  I  jus t  ask  you  a  ques t ion 

abou t  IPA jus t  to  make  sure  we unders tand  cor rec t ly.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA:  Yes.  10 

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  So is  th is  IPAF the  Independen t  Prac t i t ioners 

Assoc ia t ion  Founda t ion  …( in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Assoc ia t ion  Founda t ion,  tha t ’s  r igh t .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  Okay they  have g iven  ev idence  in  th is  hear ing 

so  we  do  know a  b i t  abou t  them wh ich  is  he lp fu l .  But  then  can  I  jus t  check 

so  your  ev idence  is  tha t  they  ente red  in to  o r  they  nego t ia ted  the  ne twork 

agreements  on  your  beha l f?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Yes.  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  Are  these the  ne twork  agreements  tha t  yo u 

re fe r  to  a t  …( in te rvenes) .  20 

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Those  a re some of  those  tha t  I  cou ld  get  

because  unfo r tuna te ly  dur ing  the  t ime  when  th is  happened Mr  John 

Jansen  who was heading  … ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  Just  a  moment  I  jus t  wan t  to  check I  und ers tand 

co r rec t ly,  i f  you cou ld  tu rn  to  the  bund le  in  f ron t  o f  you  page 12 p lease .  
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DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Okay they  d idn ’ t  g ive  me the  new bund le  but  

i s  the  NedGroup  one  o r  i s  i t  the one  tha t  says  Bon i tas  Med ica l  Scheme?  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  I  th ink i t ’s  th e  one  under  your  le f t  a rm wi th  the 

…( in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Oh th is  one ,  page  12 .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  Ja  page  12 .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Oh i t  s ta r ts  page  527  … ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  So just  page 12.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Okay yes .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  Are  those  the ne twork  agreements l i s ted  a t  10 

paragraph  23  tha t  you ’ re  re fe r r ing  to?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Medscheme  –  these  a re  Medscheme 

admin is te red med ica l  a ids  and  they  fa l l  under  those  con t rac ts .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  So these  a re  the  agreements  tha t  IPAF 

nego t ia ted  …( in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Those  a re  the agreements.   Un fo r tuna te ly  Mr 

John  Jansen  who  was head ing  our  Board a t  IPA and  do ing  a  good  job 

passed  away jus t  du r ing  th is  t ime ,  he  passed  away in  March ,  in  February 

2018  when these p rob lems s ta r ted.   So when  I  phoned h is  o f f i ce  he 

wasn ’ t  the re  I  had  to  phone  Preto r ia ,  I  go t  Soph ia  and  they t r ied  to  20 

i n te rvene  as  you  w i l l  hear  la te r.  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  Okay thank you,  le t  me no t  take  you  o f f  t rack .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  So in  February I  d idn ’ t  know the  med ica l  a ids  

were  do ing  th is  so  I  was  comp le te ly  taken  by  su rp r ise .   February  2018  my 

payments were w i thhe ld ,  I  though t  i t  was a  techn ica l  e r ro r.   I  wa i ted  a 
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month  and when  I  had  to  pay  b i l l s  a t  the  beg inn ing  o f  March I  s t a r ted 

phon ing  med ica l  a id  –  Medscheme ,  I  was  sen t  f rom p i l la r  to  post .   

Even tua l ly  I  even  spoke  to  Mr  Re inhard t  he sen t  me the  b ig  guy who  was 

th is  Mr  Devan  and he jus t ,  he sen t  me  –  then  they sen t  me the  le t te rs  on 

the  27 t h  o f  March  a f te r  w i thho ld ing  my p ayments .   As  you  can  see  the re 

they  say  they  have  suspended  me,  they  wan t  me to  g ive  them every th ing  

–  comp le te  cop ies  o f  comp le te  member  and  dependen t  f i les  o f  the  30 

years ,  some a re  20  years ,  30  years  and  they  wan ted records fo r  those 

dependen ts  and  code s .    

I  use  on ly  one  code  consu l ta t ion .   Even  i f  I  pu t  d r ips  I  do  tha t  a  10 

l o t ,  I  g ive  oxygen,  no  we  a re not  soph is t ica ted  the re,  I  use  one  code 

consu l ta t ion  so  I  do  no t  know why they  had th is .   And  they  sa id  accord ing 

to  your  Con t rac t  Regu la t ion  15(2 )  and  accord ing  in  te rms o f  the con t rac t  

en te red  in to  in  Pursuan t  o f  Regu la t ion  15(a )  the Bene f ic ia ry  Con t rac t  they 

ment ion  is  the  one  for  the  IPA where  we  were  te rmed to  be  bene f ic ia r ies 

bu t  the re  spec i f i ca l l y  i t  says  tha t  in fo rmat ion  must  be  g iven to  a  team,  a  

commi t tee  o f  hea l thcare  p ro fess iona ls ,  no t  somebody I  don ’ t  know.    

When I  phoned h im I  asked a re you  a  doc to r,  a re  you  a 

hea l thcare  p rofess iona l ,  he  sa id  he ’s  a  doc to r  bu t  I  don ’ t  have  a 

t ranscr ip t .   He  sa id  j a  I ’m a  doc to r  but  he  d idn ’ t  ca re  he was jus t  20 

o f fended ;  he  was throwing  any th ing a t  me.   Of  course I  was  c ross 

…( in te rvenes) .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Who are  you  re fe r r ing  to  th is  now?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Th is  –  the man who made  –  Mr  Devan 

F leming .  



CMS : SECTION 59 INVESTIGATION : 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 – DAY 11 
  
 

 Page 14 of 80 
 

 

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   I s  i t  a  man?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Yes he  is  a  man because  I  spoke to  h im ,  Mr 

Devan  he ’s  a  man and  he ’s  a  wh i te  man.   I ’m runn ing  a  b lack p rac t ice 

w i th  b lack  pa t ien ts  and  th is  wh i te  man who represents  Medscheme but  

s t i l l  he  is  wh i te  tha t  means a  lo t ,  he  comes and  in te r fe res  in  my p rac t ice 

and says  I ’m wi thho ld ing  your  funds.   When I  re fused  to  g ive h im c l in ica l  

no tes o f  my pa t ien ts  I  go t  a  payment  because  IPA in te rvened .   I  got  a  

payment  tha t  was  the las t  one  round  abou t  Apr i l  –  ea r ly  Apr i l .  

Then I  go t  the second le t te r  in  Apr i l  in  wh ich  he  sa i d  I  owe them, 

because  I ’m work ing  w i th  Dr  May Khunyuza  wh ich the re ’s  no  such  doc to r  10 

…(in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Sorry  jus t  te l l  me have you now 

subsequen t ly  es tab l ished  whe ther  o r  no t  Mr F leming  is  a  doc to r?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  I  phoned  a rou nd and  they sa id  no  he ’s  no t  a 

doc to r  Mr  Dav id  F leming  he  was ly ing  to  me he  d idn ’ t  ca re .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Ja  so  but  he  to ld  you  he ’s  a  doc to r?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  He to ld  me he ’s  a  doc to r  and then I  phoned 

Medscheme to  f ind  out  i f  he ’s  a  docto r  in  Forens ic  Un i t ,  they  say no  he ’s  

no t  a  doc to r,  the  o ther  peop le  sa id  no  he ’s  an  accoun tan t ,  a  Forens ic  

Accountant .   My co l leagues  were  adv is ing  me now to  co -opera te  because 20 

these peop le  can  do  bad  th ings to  me.   So I ’d  ra ther  co -opera te  and then 

I  sa id  bu t  I  cou ldn ’ t  b r ing myse l f  to  co -opera te  because I  though t  h is  

ac t iv i t ies  were  c r imina l  because  he  w i thhe ld  my payments  w i thou t  my  –  

w i th  –  un lawfu l ly  …( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   So I  mean  i f  obv ious ly  Medscheme is  
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s t i l l  go ing to  g ive  ev idenc e  bu t  i f  i t ’s  estab l ished  tha t  he l ied  to  you  when 

he  sa id  he ’s  a  doctor  bu t  he wasn ’ t  tha t  wou ld  mean tha t  he d id  the 

inves t iga t ion  under  fa lse  p re tences .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  He to ld  me and  the re must  be  a  t ranscr ip t  o f  

tha t  conversat ion  i t  was  te lephon ica l ly  because  I  asked  h im i f  he  wan ted 

my pa t ien ts  records ,  a re  you  a  doc to r  he  sa id  yes  I ’m a  doc to r  bu t  he  jus t  

d idn ’ t  ca re ,  he  sa id  so .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM:   Do you have  the da te  on wh ich  you had  th is  

te lephon ic  conversat ion  w i th  h im?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  I  w i l l  come up  w i th  a  da te  I ’ ve  go t  too  many 10 

papers  because I  was ask ing  fo r   he lp  le f t  and r igh t ,  I  w i l l  have the date .   

I  th ink  i t ’s  e i the r  befo re  the 27 t h  March ,  on  the day o f  the 27 t h  March  o r  

be fo re the  second  le t te r  because the re  w i l l  be  ac t ion a f t e r  each le t te r,  on 

the  17 t h  Apr i l .    

And  so  the  second  le t te r  came in  wh ich  they  c la imed tha t  I  was 

work ing  w i th  Dr  May Khunyuza  and  tha t  my p rac t ice  re fused  to  p rov ide 

the  scheme wi th  any  pa t ien t  records.   I f  I  can  go  back ,  I  phoned  a l l  those 

pa t ien t  –  those  –  there  were  n ine  a l l  in  a l l  because  the re were fou r  and 

s ix  bu t  one  over lapped  n ine,  I  phoned.   They  were  c ross ,  no  who  is  that ,  

we  never  gave  h im any  permiss ion  to  get  your  records  and  so  on  so  and 20 

you  don ’ t  ever  g ive  anybody  our  records,  tha t ’s  wha t  my pa t ien ts  sa id  bu t 

then I  a lso  d idn ’ t  ag ree  w i th  wha t  he sa id  so  I  d idn ’ t  commun ica te  tha t 

w i th  them and  the  way he  was commun ica t ing  w i th  me he was  –  he  jus t  

took  i t  fo r  g ran ted  that  I  wou ld  comp ly  w i th  h is  reques t .  

There ’s  no  Dr   May Khunyuza  tha t  I  know o f  but  he  sa id  tha t  the  
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reason  he  gave  fo r  i s  tha t  I  was  work ing w i th  Dr  May Khunyuza  and 

p rov ided …( in te rvenes) .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Wasn ’ t  tha t  jus t  a  comb ina t ion o f  the two surnames 

o f  the two  locums?  There ’ s  a  Dr  May and ano ther  Dr  Khunyuza  tha t  they 

seemed to  have combined  the  two .   

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  I  was  g iv ing  h im c red i t  because  I  d idn ’ t  know 

any  Dr   May Khunyuza  bu t  because i f  I ’m Ngumbe la and  he ’s  Mn tusan to 

you  can ’ t  ca l l  us  Ngumbe lamntusan to  in  one  word,  no  cap i ta l  in  

Ngumbe lamntusan to .   You  have  to  say  Dr  May and  Dr  Khunyuza  the re ’s  

two  d i f fe ren t ,  so  i t  jus t  shows how o f fended  he  was t rea t ing  th is  who le  10 

th ing  that  …( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   But  I  mean  le t  us  assume that  he  was 

con fus ing  the  names o f  your  locums ,  le t ’s  be  gen erous  towards  h im.    

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Okay he  ca l led  my locums Maykanuzo  bu t  as 

you  see  in  my submiss ion  those  a re  two d i f fe ren t  peop le ,  Dr  May is  

separa te  f rom Dr  Khunyuza  and  they  both  work  a t  my p rac t ice  l i ke  a  lo t  o f  

o ther  locums that  work  fo r  me,  I  used  to  have  a nyway be fo re  th is  who le  

th ing  because  I  used to  open  seven  days  a  week and  I  wou ld  ge t  o ther  

locums because  my pa t ien ts  cou ldn ’ t  go  to  emergency  w i th  the i r  med ica l ,  

low cos t  med ica l  a ids  I  though t  I  was  p rov id ing  a  se rv ice and  I  had to  20 

c lose .  

So  Bon i tas  wan ted  R44  000 ,00  f rom me the o thers  wan ted 

R65  000 ,00  f rom me.   Now when I  was  hear ing  peop le  g iv ing  ev idence 

why d id  they separa te  the  two  amounts,  maybe so  tha t  they  do  no t  fo rm 

R100  000,00 …( in te rvenes) .  
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ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Befo re  we  ge t  to  the  Bon i tas and  the  separa te  

amount  fo r  Bon i tas .   In  the  le t te r  the  17  –  I  th ink  i t  was  the  17  Apr i l  le t te r  

where  they  sa id  you  owe R65  454,00.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Yes.  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   They ca lcu la ted  th is  as  a  resu l t  o f  a  5% they  sa id  

tha t  th is  nu mber  makes  up  a  to ta l  o f  5% o f  the  c la ims tha t  you  made 

dur ing a  par t i cu la r  pe r iod  okay  and  tha t  they  sa id  the  abovement ioned 

schemes and  the  schemes a re  P OLMED, Fedhea l th ,  MBMed,  Parmed,  

the re ’s  a  who le  g roup o f  schemes.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Yes.  10 

ADV ADILA HASSIM:   They sa id  the  abovement ioned  schemes have  been 

a f fec ted  and  tha t  they a re  ho ld ing you l iab le  fo r  th is  amount .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Yes.  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Did they  b reakdown tha t  R65  000,00 e tcete ra  in to  

each  scheme,  so  how much  o f  tha t  was  wh a t  you  owed to  POLMED,  how 

much  o f  i t  was  to  Fedhea l th?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  No they were  no t  in te res ted  in  tha t .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   So i t  was  one  g loba l  amount  tha t  they  were 

c la iming  on  beha l f  o f  severa l  schemes?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  I t  was  jus t  a  thumb suck  and  they  d idn ’ t  ca re .   20 

They d idn ’ t  ca re  fo r  my pa t ien ts ,  they  d idn ’ t  ca re  fo r  my good  name,  they 

d idn ’ t  ca re  fo r  any th ing .   And then  IPA dec ided  to  no t  respond  to  my ca l ls  

now,  I  o f  course  wen t  f rom door  to  door.   I  wen t  to  SAMDP, I  jo ined 

severa l  g roups ,  I  t r ied  to  go to  lawyers  but  the  amounts  o f  money tha t  I  

had  to  pay  up f ron t  I  cou ld  no t  a f fo rd  so  I  wa i ted .   On the  10 t h  May they 
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sa id  w i thou t  p re jud ice  they ’ re  cance l l ing  my con t ract  mean ing they ’ re  

b lack l i s t ing  me now.  

What  bo thers  me abou t  th is  b lack l i s t ing ,  me work ing  in  my 

commun i ty  I  d idn ’ t  mind  i f  they  pa id  d i rec t ly  to  the  pa t ien t ,  why  d idn ’ t  he  

–  d id  he  no t  g ive  that  op t ion  because  I  know most  o f  my pa t ients  wou ld  

have come back  and pa id  me.   He  d idn ’ t  –  as you  w i l l  hear  f rom my 

pa t ien ts ,  he  never  approached  any  o f  my pa t ien ts  excep t  MBMed who in  

May  –  in  June  wrote  an SMS to  the i r  pa t ien ts  that  f ind ano ther  doc tor  

now,  Dr  Ngumbe la is  ou t  o f  ou r  cont rac ts .    

And I  wro te  to  them aga in  in  June I  sa id  L i fe  Es id imen i  i t  was 10 

the  same th ing ,  they  b r eak  –  they  b roke  con t rac ts  bu t  a t  least  they  gave  

them th ree to  s ix  months befo re they  move  pa t ien ts .   Wi th  the p r iva te 

sec to r,  w i th  Medscheme there  was no  warn ing  they  just  to ld  pa t ien ts  in  

the  midd le  o f  the  month  and  pa t ien ts  pay  up f ront  fo r  tha t  month ,  he te l l s  

me on  the  10 t h  May tha t  he ’s  cance l led  my con t rac t .   Pa t ien ts  canno t  

change docto rs  un t i l  end  o f  the  month  –  the  fo l lowing month so he ’s  

keep ing  –  he ’s  s tea l ing  my pat ien ts  money f rom the  10 t h  to  the  –  th ree 

weeks  o f  my pat ien ts  money where they  c anno t  go  to  any doc to r  whereas 

he ’s  tak ing  tha t  money and  sa id  he ’s  no t  go ing  to  take  me,  I  though t  that  

i s  the f t ,  bes ides  the  the f t  o f  the  money that  he  took  f rom me,  he th ieved 20 

money f rom my pa t ients  and  some o f  those  pa t ien ts  I  go t  a  l i s t  f rom AfA I  

sa id  I  was manag ing Medscheme ’s abou t  300  pa t ien ts  on  A fA .    

71  have  ye t  no t  chosen  a  pa t ien t  mean ing ,  71  a re unt rea ted  w i th  

HIV  and  we know there ’s  consequences  to  tha t .   They  d idn ’ t  even  bo ther 

to  use  the  money to  fo l low the  pa t ien ts  and  ass is t  them to  ge t  doc to rs ,  
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they  just  cu t  o f f ,  d idn ’ t  ca re  fo r  them and  you  w i l l  hear  f rom my pa t ien ts  

wha t  happened .   And  I  wro te  to  them,  I  sa id  be  ca re fu l  o f  wha t  happened 

to  Es id imen i  and  indeed one  of  the  n ine pa t ien ts  they  gave  me when  I  

phoned her  to  say the re  is  an  i nqu i ry  come,  she was so  c ross  w i th  me 

tha t  I  le f t  he r  now she  had  a s t roke  because  I  cou ldn ’ t  g ive her ,  her  

hyper tens ion med icat ion .   I  was t ry ing to  ge t  he r  daugh te r  to  come and 

exp la in  because  I  don ’ t  know what  happened ,  she  doesn ’ t  wan t  to  ta lk  to  

me.   Tha t  i s  wha t  happens ,  the  consequences  o f  the  act ions  o f  

Medscheme.    

My second batch  o f  the  p resen tat ion  is  abou t  my pa t ien ts  10 

…(in te rvenes) .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Dr Ngumbe la  just  so  tha t  I  unders tand  th is  

ev idence  cor rec t ly  because  the  le t te rs  a re  no t  en t i r e ly  c lea r,  so  i t ’s  your 

ev idence  tha t  f rom the  10 t h  May no  one  was be ing  pa id ,  the  p rac t ice  was 

no t  be ing  pa id  and  the  pat ien ts  were  no t  be ing  pa id?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Yes bu t  s t i l l  they  sa id  i t  o f f i c ia l l y  bu t  f rom the 

da te  they pa id  me in  Apr i l  they  ne ver pa id  me aga in  but  f rom the 10 t h  May 

they  sa id  o f f i c ia l l y  they ’ve  cu t  o f f  t ies  w i th  me.  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  And then  when  d id  i t  happen  –  f rom what  da te  

d id  i t  happen  uno f f i c ia l l y?  20 

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  The las t  payment  was  in  Apr i l ;  I  th ink  i t  was 

the  16 t h  Apr i l .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Sorry  I  though t  tha t  you were  suspended 

f rom February  2018?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  And then  IPA in te rvened  and I  go t  a  payment  
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on  the  16 t h  Apr i l  and then  a f te r  tha t  IPA cou ldn ’ t  do  any th ing  anymore 

they  w i l l  jus t  send  messages  they were  s t i l l  busy  w i th  th is  but  I  th ink  they 

were  power less  and  anyway they  ge t  the i r  funds  f rom the  med ica l  a ids  to  

manage  –  to  c l in ica l l y  . . . ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   You say the re  were 71  pa t ien ts  w i th  HIV 

a l l  o f  them were  HIV  pos i t i ve  o r  wha t  exac t ly?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  They a re on t re a tment .   You  see  I  wro te  to  

A fA ,  I  wro te  to  So lu t ion ,   w i th  Medscheme those  tha t  have HIV  a re 

managed  by  a  p rogram ca l led  A id  fo r  A IDS,  those  that  a re  on  o ther  

ch ron ic  i l lnesses  a re  managed  by  a  p rogram ca l led  So lu t ion.  10 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   No I  jus t  wan t  to  unders tand  th is  number 

o f  71  …( in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  271 .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   271 .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  The number  o f  71 ,  I  cou ldn ’ t  b r ing the data ,  

they on ly  sen t  me the  da ta  now because I  phoned them and sa id  p lease 

send  me aga in  the  pa t ien ts  that  I ’ ve  reg is te red  f rom Medscheme in  AfA 

the re  was a  number  c lose  to  300  some have  found new doc to rs  now but  

71  a re s t i l l  w i thout  doc to rs .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   But  th is  71 you  sa id  the re was 71 20 

pa t ien ts  w i th  …( in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Withou t  doc to rs .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Withou t  doc to rs  okay  but  they  may be 

hav ing ch ron ic  i l lnesses  o ther  … ( in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  They have  AIDS,  they  have  HIV 
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…(in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Oh these  are  HIV  pos i t i ve .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  HIV pos i t i ve  pat ien ts .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   I  see .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  That  were  on the p rogram,  71  as  fa r  as  the 

document  they  gave me in  Ju ly  when  th is  now s ta r ted .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   No tha t ’s  f ine  I  jus t  wan ted  to  c la r i f y,  so 

wha t ’s  the i r  pos i t ion r igh t  now as  we speak ,  they have  no doc to r,  no 

med ica l  a id?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  They do  have  a med ica l  a id .  10 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Yes.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBE LA:  The med ica l  a id  has  bene f i t ted  a  lo t  because 

some o f  those pat ien ts  haven ’ t  chosen  a  doc to r  ye t  because  I  d idn ’ t  know 

tha t  i t ’s  –  even  me I  knew there  was a  bond  I  d idn ’ t  know i t ’s  so  d i f f i cu l t  

fo r  a  pa t ien t  to  go  and  s ta r t  ano ther  doc to r.   Some o f  th em I  am the  one 

who  had  to  back  them or  f ind  doc to rs  fo r  them,  t ry  th is  one ,  t ry  th is  one,  

i t  was  rea l ly  d i f f i cu l t  wh ich  is  …  So  some o f  them up  to  now who were 

be ing  managed  by  me s t i l l  do  no t  have  doc to rs .   Even  i f  you  read  the 

le t te rs  they  w i l l  say  I  h aven ’ t  had  any  med ica t ion  I ’ ve  now defau l ted  my 

med ica t ion f rom the  le t te rs  tha t  I  inc luded in  my submiss ion .  20 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   And th is  i s  s ince  when?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Since  May o f  2018 .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   2018  yes .   And  why a re  they f ind ing  i t  

d i f f i cu l t  to  f ind  a  rep lacement  docto r?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Can you go to  the le t te rs?   When we were 
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to ld  to  p resen t  to  –  when  we were  to ld  tha t  we  can  make submiss ions ,  I  

asked  my pa t ien t  because  some o f  them are  s t i l l  coming  and  bo ther  –  no t 

bo ther ing  me but  coming  and  c ry ing  to  me.   So I  sa id ,  okay,  wr i te  

submiss ion  those  who can  qu ick ly  because  i t  was  a  shor t  no t ice.    

So  I  th ink I  handed  in  46  submiss ions  and  o f  those 46 

submiss ions  I  was  look ing  a t  them.  Many  –  the ma in  comp la in t  i s  tha t  

peop le  fee l  comfor tab le  w i th  the i r  doc tor.   Peop le  do no t  l i ke  to  move , 

I ’ ve  got  le t te rs  the re .   Peop le  do not  l i ke  to  move  to  o ther  docto rs .   And 

then  a lso  I  d idn ’ t  know how much  pa in  the who le  p rocess  is  o f  go ing  to  

ano ther  doc to r  bu t  I ’ ve  marked  some.    10 

“Th is  is  k i l l ing  me”,  some o f  the  pa t ien ts  a re  say ing ,  “ I  don ’ t  

know,  th is  make me s ick  and I  th ink  i t  w i l l  end up  k i l l ing  me”,  tha t ’s  page 

109 .   I  fee l  ve ry  –  some a re say ing ,  “ I ’m to ta l l y  unhappy and d isagree”.   

These a re some o f  the  s ta tements  tha t  my pat ien ts  wro te  about  the  pa in  

. . . ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Ja ,  tha t ’s  one  at  62 ;  Thombiwe 

Kabe len jo  says  tha t  she  has  been a  pa t ien t  fo r  20 years  and now she 

doesn ’ t  unders tand why she must  ab rup t ly  change .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Yes  and hav in g  been  a  GP fo r  so long 

obv ious ly  I ’ ve  got  peop le  who ’ve  been  wi th  me  –  I  th ink  some o f  my 20 

pa t ien ts  w i l l  te l l  you  –  the  pa t ien ts  tha t  I  b rough t  –  peop le  that  I  –  the 

f i rs t  th ree  pa t ien ts  tha t  I  ca l led  yes te rday  on  shor t  no t ice ,  a l l  th ree  w i l l  

te l l  you,  I  t o ld  them yes te rday  morn ing  when  I  was to ld  I  cou ld  b r ing 

pa t ien ts  and  some a re men.    

I  was  shocked  a t  how i t  was  ve ry  pa in fu l ,  very  hard to  bear.   One 
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i s  say ing  wha t  happened  to  them wi th  the  med ica l  a id  and  wha t  the i r  

med ica l  a ids  d id  when  they  jus t  sa id ,  s top see ing  th is  doc to r.   What  r igh t 

has  i t  go t  to  in f l i c t  such  damage to  –  as  Medscheme inc lud ing th is  Mr  

Devan  wi th  such g lee because  these  pa t ien ts  were  coming  up  and  down 

and  my pa t ien ts  don ’ t  have  ca rs .    

They  have to  come  – wa lk  down,  they get  to ld  th is ,  they go back 

to  the  med ica l  a id  o f f i ces .   Wi th  such  g lee  they  a re  to ld  tha t  ask  her  what  

she  d id .   I  was  hur t  so  much  that  the re was no th ing  I  cou ld  do ,  one 

pa t ien t  says .   And  I  don ’ t  mind  i f  they  pun ish  me bu t  wha t  abou t  ou r  

pa t ien ts ,  and  somebody needs  to  go  to  ja i l  fo r  th is .    10 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Now what  d id  you  do ac tua l ly  f rom th is  

pos i t ion o f  Medscheme?  What  do  they  say you  d id?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   I  worked  as  a  g roup  page  p rac t ice  w i th  May 

Khunyuza  and  I  re fused  to  g ive them  –  that  l e t te r  that  I  g ive  to  g ive  them 

pa t ien t  records.   Tha t  i s  wha t  I  d id .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   And  i t  was s ix  pa t ien ts ,  records  fo r  s ix  pat ien ts?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   No ,  fou r  w i th  Bon i tas  . . . ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   And  s ix  . . .  in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA:   And s ix  w i th  –  bu t  a l l  in  a l l  i t ’s  n ine  because 

one  is  over lapp ing.  20 

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   I  see.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Four  w i th  Bon i tas  and  s ix  w i th  . . . ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   And  you  say  you  con tacted  those  pa t ients  to  ask 

fo r  consen t  and  they  . . . ( in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Those  –  asked –  yes .  
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ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Dec l ined .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   S ix  o f  them I  go t  on  t ime  to  wr i te  A f f idav i t s  

so  o f  these  A f f idav i t s ,  s ix  a re  f rom those pat ien ts .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   They  wro te  A f f idav i ts  to  say  tha t  they d id  no t  wan t 

to  consen t  to  the i r  records .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Yes  and  some a re  say ing  tha t  how they  fee l  

d is respec ted  by  the i r  med ica l  a id  to  s top  them.   S ix  o f  those  n ine 

pa t ien ts ,  the  one  is  the  one  who  had  a  s t roke  who ’s  rea l ly  c ross .   The  two 

I  cou ldn ’ t  ge t  ho ld  o f ,  I  th ink  one  came bu t  he  came he  cou ldn ’ t  wr i te  and 

he  was supposed  to  come and  say  th is .   But  a l l  n ine  o f  them were  w i l l ing  10 

to  wr i te  and  s ix  o f  them are  in  here .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   And  wha t  was  Medscheme’s  respond?   D id  y ou  te l l  

Medscheme tha t  the pat ien ts  were no t  w i l l ing  to  p rov ide  consen t  to  

d isc lose  the i r  in fo rmat ion?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Yes  bu t  –  yes ,  I  sa id  so .   F i rs t  I  sa id ,  how 

can  they ask me  –  I ’m a  p ro fess iona l  to  round  up my pa t ients  as  i f  they 

to ld  me what  I ’d  done.   Round  up  my pa t ien ts ,  get  consen t  fo r  somebody 

who ’s  no t  a  hea l thcare  p rofess iona l ,  go and  g ive h im.   I  mean  l ike  a t  that  

s tage  I  was  angry.   When I  spoke  to  o ther  peop le ,  they  say  I  must  go  and 

beg –  when  I  phoned  o thers ,  I  must  go and beg  th is  Devan who  seems to  20 

be  the  r ing leader  o f  the  c r imina ls .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   What  was  h is  response  though when  you to ld  h im 

tha t  they were  . . . ( in tervenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   He  doesn ’ t  ca re .   He  d idn ’ t  ca re  a t  tha t  t ime.   

He  was  –  I  don ’ t  know because  i t ’ s  qu ie t  abou t  h im now.   He  d idn ’ t  ca re .   
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I t  was  a  v ic to ry fo r  h im.   Each  one o f  us  bu t  my pa t ien t  w i l l  te l l  you she 

wen t  to  ano ther  doc tor,  that  o ther  doc to r  was  f rom St  Mark ’s  C l in ic  fo r  the 

same th ing ,  the  doc tor  tha t  she  was go ing up  and down town t ry in g  to  f ind 

ano ther  doc tor.  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :   Can  I  jus t  go back  to  the  71  pa t ien ts  who  have 

HIV  and  who cur ren t ly  don ’ t  have  doc to rs .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Yes .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :   What  a re  they  do ing? 

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   De fau l t ing .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAM S:   What  you  mean?  Cou ld  you  just  exp la in  the i r  10 

pos i t ion?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   De fau l t ing ,  you ’ l l  read in  the  le t te rs ,  many 

a re  say ing,  I ’ ve  de fau l ted  now,  mean ing  that  they  a re  w i thou t  med ica t ion.   

They  a re  w i thou t  med ica t ion.   Every  s ix  months  we  have  to  do  b lood 

tes ts ,  every  s ix  months .   I  do  no t  know what  they  do  bu t  i f  they  a re  not  

be ing seen  by  a  doc to r  –  they do no t  have a  doc to r,  obv ious ly  they 

de fau l t ing .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :   And by de fau l t ing  you mean they  no t  tak ing 

the i r  med ica t ion .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA:   Yes ,  they  de fau l t ing  t reatment .  20 

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   And  what ’s  the  consequence  o f  de fau l t ing  on ARV 

med ica t ion?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   I l lness  and death .   I l lness  and  death .   I  don ’ t  

know why they  don ’ t  wor ry  abou t  hosp i ta l  admiss ions  somet imes b ecause 

the  reason  why even tua l ly  they  agree  to  t rea t  to  ro l l  ou t  ARV ’s  was 
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because  i t ’s  supposed  to  cos t  more  to  t rea t  in  hosp i ta l  than to  g ive  

ARV’s .    

Bu t  even  wh i le  I  was s t i l l  on  the  p rogram you  wou ld  f ind  tha t  

they  have  re luc tance ,  I  wou ld  have  to  f ig ht  fo r  them to  change a  more 

expens ive  med icat ion and  the  pa t ien t  ends  up  be ing  hosp i ta l i sed  aga in  

and  aga in .   So  I  don ’ t  know why i t ’s  be t te r  fo r  them to  –  fo r  the pa t ien ts  

to  be  hosp i ta l i sed  o r  they  know tha t  the  pa t ien ts  w i l l  s top  work ing  and 

leave  med ica l  funds ,  then  w i l l  ge t  s ick  and  d ie .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   And  d id  you  ever  cons idered  jus t  pay ing  the 

amounts tha t  they  sa id  you owe?  10 

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :  Never,  no .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM:   Just  one o ther th ing  in  re la t ion to  and  you do 

ment ion  i t  in  your  Af f id av i t .   There  were  two  le t te rs  on  17 t h  o f  Apr i l .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Yes .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   One  was f rom Medscheme and  they  sa id  on  beha l f  

o f  the  –  o f  a  g roup  o f  severa l  schemes.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Yes .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Inc lud ing  Bon i tas .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA:   Yes .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   And  on  the  same . . . ( in te rvenes) .  20 

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   No ,  they  d idn ’ t  men t ion Bon i tas  on tha t  –  on 

the  two  separate  occas ions  Bon i tas  was  no t  ment ioned .   I t  was Bon i tas 

and  then  the  o thers  in  tha t  when  they  had  sp l i t  the le t te rs .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Can  we jus t  have  a  look  a t  tha t  17 Apr i l?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   17  Apr i l ,  okay.   Maybe  I  miss  read.   Oh  yes ,  
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they  do .    

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   The  f i rs t  one which  is  on page 121 inc ludes 

Bon i tas.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   H ’mm yes .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM:   And  then  on  page  123  on  the  same day  is  ano ther 

le t te r.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Yes .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Bu t  th is  one  is  on  beha l f  o f  Bon i tas .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Oh ,  I  d idn ’ t  no t ice ,  yes .   They  jus t  do wha t 

they  –  they  don ’ t  ca re.  10 

ADV ADILA HASSIM:   And  tha t ’s  fo r  an  amount  o f  44  odd  thousand .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Yes .   Inc lude  –  the one  tha t  inc ludes  Bon i tas 

is  65  000 ,  the o ther  one  is  44  000 .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Yes  and  the reasons  a re  the  same.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Yes .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   And  d id  you  query  why  th is  i s  so?   Why were  you 

be ing get t ing  two  le t te rs  . . . ( in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Wi thou t  go ing  to  Mr  Devan  F leming  and  be ing  

–  because  I  d id  go to  SAMDP.   Tha t  was  in te res t ing  a lso ,  I  wen t  to  

SAMDP,  I  took th is  because  SA MDP is  supposed  to  be  shareho ld ing  in 20 

Medscheme,  I  thought  th ings  wou ld  be easy.   Then  one doc to r  wen t  to  

rep resent  me wh ich  I  d idn ’ t  know and  the  resu l t  was  tha t  I  must  s ign  some 

acknowledgement  be fo re  he pays me o therwise  I  may take  h im to  cour t .    

So  I  d idn ’ t  wan t  to  s ign  that ,  no ,  I  don ’ t  know what  I  had to  s ign  bu t  my 

representa t ive  sa id ,  Devan  says  you  must  come and  s ign  someth ing  then 
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he  wi l l  be  back  o therwise  you  may take  h im to  cour t .   So  I  d idn ’ t  accept  

tha t  o f fe r  because  I  wan ted  my op t ions  to  re ma in  open.   And  I  had  been 

aggr ieved ,  I ’m s t i l l  fee l ing  aggr ieved  even  now.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   S ign  wha t ,  an acknowledgement  o f  

wha t?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   I  don ’ t  know,  to  s ign  that  I  ag reed  to  be pa id 

ou t  to  someth ing  l i ke  tha t .   That  I  ag ree  tha t  I  must  go  to  Devan and  s ign 

tha t  I  ag ree that  he  wou ld  be  –  so  that  I  don ’ t  a f te rwards  when  he pays 

me back  and  he  –  I  don ’ t  a f te rwards  take  h im  –  take  lega l  act ion aga ins t 

h im.   Tha t  was  exac t ly  wha t  my co l league  –  the  repor t  my co l league came 10 

back  w i th .    

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Now d id  you  consu l t  o r  con tac t  a l l  o f  

these pat ien ts  and  they  re fused  to  g ive  –  I  mean i f  one  is  to  be  fa i r  to  

Medscheme and  to  say,  look  wha t  they a re  t ry ing to  check  is  to  ve r i f y  i f  

your  se rv ices were rendered and  they ’ve  g iv en you the names and  the 

member  numbers .   So I  mean o ther  answer  is  . . . ( in te rvenes) .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Yes ,  a l l  o f  them 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   The  s imple  th ing  to  do  is  jus t  g ive  them 

the  records .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   I t ’s  no t  s imp le .  20 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   H ’mm.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   I t ’s  no t  s imp le  to  g ive  records.   I f  somebody 

is  admi t ted  to  hosp i ta l ,  I  was  g iv ing  an  example ,  i f  you  a re  admi t ted  and 

your  f r iends  v is i t  you ,  when  somebody pages  th rough  your  c l in ica l  

records ,  i t ’s  not  n ice,  you  w ou ld  ra ther  your  c l in ica l  –  tha t ’s  a  p r iva te  
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th ing and  i t ’s  the  d ign i t y  o f  the  pa t ien t  who ’s  ly ing  the re in  bed  whose 

records  a re  be ing  –  tha t  i s  no t  done.    

I  wou ldn ’ t  l i ke  i t  to  be  done  to  me.   I  don ’ t  wan t  i t  to  be  done  to 

my pa t ients  w i thou t  p roper  cau se .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :   Dr  Ngumbe la ,  I  see  f rom your Af f idav i t  that  

you ’ve  rece ived  these  le t te rs  f rom Medscheme and  Bon i tas .   Bu t  you ’ve 

o f ten  rep l ied  by  way o f  te lephone conversa t ions .   So  we  don ’ t  have  o f ten  

–  we ’ve  go t  your  Af f idav i t  wh ich  exp la ins  wh a t  you  sa id  bu t  wou ld  you  be 

ab le  to  p rov ide  us  wi th  some k ind  o f  ind ica t ion o f  when  the te lephone 

ca l ls  took  p lace  so  tha t  we  unders tand  tha t  c lea r ly?  10 

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   I  wro te  to  them,  I  th ink  I ’ ve  go t  th is  one  f rom 

AfA and  So lu t ion  where  I  was  jus t  t ry ing to  say,  p lease my pa t ients  maar  -  

and  then  I  wro te  to  them aga in  bu t  I  was  wr i t ing  most ly  to  IPA.  

And then  I  d id  respond  to  the  f i rs t  le t te r  to  Mr  Devan  F leming  bu t  

in  my response  –  I  responded  to  the  ema i l  –  I  cou ld  check  tha t  as  we l l .   I  

responded  the  same day,  the  same day  I  rece ived  i t ,  I  responded  to  say 

tha t  he  had  no r igh t  to  ask  me that  in fo rmat ion .    

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :   I t  i s  impor tan t  tha t  we  have  a  fu l l  se t  o f  the 

commun ica t ion so  i f  you  cou ld  f i l l  in  the  gaps  where  they  a re ,  tha t  wou ld  

be  g rea t .  20 

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Yes ,  I  w i l l  search  fo r  that .   I  th ink  I ’ ve  got  i t .   

I  w i l l  g ive  i t  to  you .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   How d id  the  IPA ge t  your  payments 

re ins ta ted  when  they  were  suspended  in  February?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   I  do  no t  know how t hey  d id  because  Sune t te  
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Botha  f rom IPA wou ld  wr i te  me ema i l s  in  Apr i l  she  wou ld  say ;    

“Jus t  to  keep  you  upda ted ,  ou r  board  o f  d i rec to rs  a re  in  

the  p rocess  o f  t ry ing to  come up  w i th  a  so lu t ion  fo r  you . ”  

The  f i rs t  one  is  tha t ;    

“Thank  you  I ’ ve  send  i t  to  o u r  Board  o r  D i rec to rs  fo r  the i r  

u rgen t  pe rusa l . ”  

 So  I  kept  see ing  tha t  bu t  a f te r  –  then  af te r  the  f ina l  le t te r,  I  sen t  

them a  long  le t te r  aga in .   I  never  go t  a  response  now.   I  th ink  they  had 

a lso  g iven up .   I  kep t  phon ing and  t ry ing  to  remind  them bu t  th e f i rs t  t ime 

they  were successfu l  and  go t  me a  payment .  10 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Tha t ’s  wha t  I ’m t ry ing  to  unders tand  is ,  

wha t  was  the commun ica t ion be tween  them and Medscheme wh ich  made 

Medscheme to  re ins ta te  your  payment?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   Because  that ’s  how th ings  were  supposed  to  

go .   IPA was  –  the  con t rac t  w i th  Medscheme was he ld  by  IPA.   So  tha t 

was  the p roper  channe l .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Now maybe  the  bes t  th ing  is  i f  you  cou ld  

a lso  jus t  ge t  some commun ica t ion  be tween  IPA and  Medscheme wh i ch 

resu l ted  in  the  re ins ta tement  o f  your  payment .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   I  d id ,  I  wro te  le t te rs  to  IPA aga in  –  oh to  get  20 

–  oh okay.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Anyway,  do  you  have  any th ing  e lse to  

say  o r  wou ld  you  l i ke  your  pat ien ts  to  s tep in  a t  th is  s tage?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUMBELA :   I  wou ld  l i ke  my pa t ien ts  to  s tep  in ,  thank  you .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   A l r igh t ,  we l l  le t ’s  s ta r t  w i th  the  lady  here 
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on  the r igh t .   You know we d idn ’ t  a r range  in te rp re te rs ,  pe rhaps  we  shou ld  

have ,  never the less ,  le t ’s  see  how fa r  we  go .   Yes,  you  can  te l l  us  your 

s to ry.   S ta r t  f rom the  beg inn ing .  

MS BABALWA SIKITI :   My name is  Baba lwa  S ik i t i .   I ’ ve  been  Dr 

Ngumbe la ’s  pa t ient  s ince  1999 .   I  was  work ing  fo r  the  re ta i l  shops  then 

us ing  money o r  cash payments  bu t  when  I  had  a  med ica l  a id  in  2015 ,  I  

s tayed Dr  Ngumbe la ’s  pa t ien t .    

I  am a ch ron ic  pa t ien t  and when  a l l  th is  s tar ted  i t  was in  2018  in  

Ju ly.   I  wen t  fo r  my regu la r  check -up  and  I  was  to ld  by  the  ass is tan t  a t  

the  su rgery  tha t  Dr  Ngumbe la is  not  tak ing  Bon i tas  pa t ients  anymore.   10 

And I  asked  them why,  because she has  been  removed  f rom the  l i s t  of  

doc to rs  that  a re  used by  Medscheme.   And then  I  asked  wha t  am I  go ing 

to  do?   And  they  then  sa id  to  me,  you  have  to  ca l l  Bon i tas .    

I  phoned  –  I  wen t  home tha t  day  and  the  fo l lowing  morn ing  I  

phoned Bon i tas,  asked  them abou t  th is .   My doc to r  has  been  removed  and  

I ’ ve  used the  same doc to r  and the lady tha t  answered  me on  the  phone 

sa id  to  me,  we l l  she has  been  removed .   And  then I  asked her,  can  I  ask 

why.   She sa id  to  me,  no ,  I  canno t  te l l  you  tha t  but  wha t  you can do ,  you 

can  f ind  a  doc to r  and make  sure  that  you  f ind  –  you  ask  fo r  the p rac t ice 

number  as  we l l  so  tha t  when  we do  our  check  we  can be ab le  to  te l l  you 20 

tha t  she ’s  on  our  l i s t  o f  doc to rs  o r  no t .    

And  tha t  week ,  I  d id  no t  do  any th ing .   The  fo l lowing  week,  I  

s ta r ted  check ing  fo r  the  docto rs  tha t  I  can  use  and  one  doc to r  once 

v is i ted  our  workp lace tha t  was  fo r  someth ing  e lse .   She  v is i ted  us  fo r  

someth ing  e lse  bu t  I  dec ided  to  check  up  on  her.   They  gave  me the  
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prac t ice  number.   I  phoned  Bon i tas  aga in .   Th is  i s  the  docto r  tha t  I  found 

and th is  i s  the  p rac t ice  number  that  I ’ ve  been g iven  and they  sa id ,  yes,  

she  is  on  our  l i s t  o f  doc to rs  and  then  I  went  to  the  doc to r.    

I ’m no t  go ing  to  l ie ,  tha t  who le  exper ience  was devas ta t ing  for  

me because  I ’m go ing to  a  new doc to r.   She  doesn ’ t  know anyth ing  about  

me and  I  have to  s i t  in  f ron t  o f  that  woman o r  man and  te l l  he r  tha t  th is  i s  

my s i tua t ion  because I  wan t  you  to  be my new doc tor.   Now I  have  to  be 

the  one  to  te l l  he r  wha t ’s  go ing  on .   Never t he less ,  I  wen t  to  the  su rgery,  I  

reg is te red.    

The  doc to r  a r r ived,  I  had a l l  my scr ip ts  in  my bag and I  jus t  pu t  10 

my scr ip ts  l i ke  tha t ,  th is  i s  my s i tua t ion .   And  then  she  read  a l l  o f  them 

and asked  me,  wha t  do  you want  me to  do  fo r  you .   I  exp la ined to  her  tha t 

I ’m Dr  Ngumbe la ’s  pat ien t  and  she  has  been  removed  f rom the  l i s t .   I ’m 

no t  su re  i f  you  a re go ing  to  be  my doc to r  o r  no t  because  r igh t  now i f  I  

cou ld  change  a  med ica l  a id  I  wou ld  as  we  speak  bu t  un fo r tuna te ly  I  had  to 

wa i t  fo r  the  1 s t  o f  Oc tober  fo r  m e to  be ab le  to  change  the  med ica l  a id .    

A l r igh t  because I  on ly  had  two  op t ions ,  i t  was  e i the r  I  change my med ica l  

doc to r  whom I  have  used  fo r  years  o r  change  the  med ica l  a id .   And  then 

as  we  spoke  w i th  the  lady  she sa id ,  shame,  I ’ ve  heard  tha t  she  has  be en 

removed and  because o f  ABC what  she has had .   You know what ,  I ’ ve  had 20 

the same p rob lem,  med ica l  a ids  don ’ t  pay us ,  do you  know that .   I  sa id  

no ,  I  ended  up  go ing  to  a  hosp i ta l  because  o f  depress ion ,  they  a re 

f rus t ra t ing us .    

And  I  was  l i ke ,  we  a l l  go  t o  these  doc to rs ,  they  he lp  us  and  they 

he lp  us  a  lo t .   They  a re  no t  counse l lo rs ;  they  a re  jus t  GP ’s  bu t  they  go 
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th rough  wi th  you  even  on  a  persona l  leve l .   Tha t  a lone bu i lds a  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  your  doc to r.   And  when  I  heard  that  I  was  l i ke  these 

doc to rs  a re  go ing  th rough  a  lo t  and  we  a re  no t  even  aware  wha t  they  go 

th rough .    

To  cu t  the  long s to ry  shor t ,  she he lped me and a t  the  same t ime 

she  adv ised me,  why  don ’ t  you cance l  your  med ica l  a id .   S top  us ing 

med ica l  a id .   How much  is  i t  deduc t ing  f rom your sa l a ry?  Then  Bon i tas 

was  deduc t ing abou t  1  621  on  a  month ly  bas is  and  she  sa id ,  why  don ’ t  t ry  

save  money,  a t  leas t  save  500  a  month.   Maybe you  w i l l  be ab le  to  come 

up  to  come to  a  doc to r  to  come fo r  a  v is i t  w i th  your  own money ra ther 10 

than  us ing  the  med ica l  a ids  because  1  600  and  you  don ’ t  get  s ick  more  

o f ten .   And  I  sa id  yes ,  I  don ’ t  ge t  s ick .   I  don ’ t  get  s ick .   I  don ’ t  usua l ly  

v is i t  a  doc tor.   I  v is i t  a  doc to r  when I  have  f lu  o r  jus t  fo r  my check -up  and 

I  sa id ,  I  w i l l  th ink  abou t  tha t  and then  I  le f t .    

And  how I  fe l t  about  the  who le  s i tua t ion,  one ,  I  fe l t  bu l l ied 

because  the re  was noth ing  I  cou ld  do .   I  fe l t  undermined  as  the  one  who 

is  pay ing  because  i t ’s  my money tha t ’s  pay ing  a l l  th is  and  ye t  they  d idn ’ t  

even  have  the  decency  to  ca l l  me  o r  send me an  ema i l  tha t ;  S issy,  can 

you  p lease  t ry  and  f ind  ano ther  doc to r  in  t ime  because  the  one tha t  you 

been  us ing ,  we  have  removed  f rom our  l i s t .   Tha t ’s  a l l  I  can  say.  20 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Thank  you  I  th ink  le t ’s  come to  th is  s ide.   

How are  we  go ing  to  do  th is ?   What  language  do  you  wan t  to  use?  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :    I ’d  l i ke  is iXhosa .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Ja ,  I  knew and  you?  

MR BUYISILE PAN :   Xhosa.   
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ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Ja  a l r igh t ,  the  p rob lem is  tha t  we  don ’ t  

have  in te rp re te rs  and these  p roceed in gs  a re  he ld  in  Eng l ish.   Anyway you 

speak  in  your  language .   I  don ’ t  wan t  peop le  who  speak A f r ikaans  to  come 

here  and ins is t  on  speak ing  A f r ikaans  and  tha t ’s  why  I  don ’ t  wan t  to  

c rea te  a  p recedent  tha t  we  gave  spec ia l  pe rmiss ion  to  Af r ican  language 

speakers .   So i f  you can  speak  Eng l ish then I  wou ld  say  you  shou ld  

un less  you  can ’ t  speak  Eng l ish  in  wh ich  even t  I  wou ld  a l low is iXhosa .  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   I  w i l l  m ix .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   A l r igh t ,  so  t ry  Eng l ish ,  le t ’s  see  how tha t 

goes .   Swi tch  on  the mic rophone.  10 

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   F i rs t l y,  g reet ings  to  a l l  the peop le  in  f ront  

o f  me.   As  I  have  in t roduced  myse l f  I ’m Phumeza  George  Mntusan to.   I ’ ve  

been  a  pa t ien t  fo r  Dr  Ngumbe la fo r  the  pas t  18 years .   F i rs t l y,  I  wou ld  l i ke  

to  re fe r  th is  to  my med sc heme o f  wh ich  is  POLMED.   No t  to  consu l t  me in  

due  t ime  so  tha t  I  can  o rgan ise  a  scheme be fo re  I  a l ready  knew tha t  Dr 

Ngumbe la  was  no  longer  pa id  by  the scheme.    

As  I  was to ld  tha t  Dr  Ngumbe la is  no t  get t ing pa id  by the 

scheme,  I ’ ve  went  to  Dr  Ngumbe la an d I ’ ve  asked her as to  reason  why is  

she  no t  ge t t ing  pa id .   A t  that  t ime  she  d id  no t  know what  was  the  ac tua l  

reason .   I  th ink  i t  was  a round  March  2018 when  I  consu l ted  her.   I  wen t  20 

fo r  consu l ta t ion  the re ,  tha t ’s  when  she  to ld  me th is .    

 When I  became awa re  o f  th is ,  I  was  angry  w i th  my med ica l  a id  

because  norma l ly  they  do  fu rn ish  me wi th  the  ema i l s  and  the 

co r respondence  w i th  wh ich  the  le t te rs  tha t  they wro te  to  me i f  ever  the re 

a re  any  changes  w i th  the  med ica l  a id  o r  e lse  the re  w i l l  be  changes  fo r  
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medica l  a id .    

 Then  I ’ ve  dec ided  to  ca l l  my med scheme,  I  ca l led  POLMED and 

have spoken to  a  man o f  wh ich she cou ld  no t  fu rn ish me wi th  a  reason  as 

to  why  Dr  Ngumbe la  is  removed  f rom the  l is t .   The  on ly  th ing  tha t  he  to ld  

me,  he  to ld  me tha t  I  shou ld  o rgan ise  an o ther  doc to r  because  she  won ’ t  

go  on the l i s t  un t i l  fu r the r  no t ice.   And  she adv ised me to  go back  and ask 

the  reason  f rom Dr  Ngumbe la o f  wh ich  I  d id  fo r  the second t ime now and 

Dr  Ngumbe la  cou ld  no t  answer  me because  she  d id  no t  know a t  tha t 

pa r t i cu la r  mo ment .    

 I  then  ca l led  aga in ,  I  was  fu rn ished  w i th  a  l i s t  o f  doc to rs  o f  10 

which  i t  was  a  15 l i s t  o f  doc to rs ,  the re was 14  wh i te  doc to rs  inc lud ing one 

doc tor,  Dr  S temba o f  wh ich  is  a  b lack  docto r.   To  my knowledge  I  know 

the  doc to r  as  a  menta l ly  d is tu rbed  per son  as  we  speak .   So  I  f ind i t  rac ia l  

to  be fu rn ished  w i th  wh i te  doc to rs  and one doc to r  o f  wh ich is  no t  in  

p rac t ice  o f  wh ich  I  . . . ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   How was th is  l i s t  g iven to  you ,  in  

wr i t ing?  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   Ja ,  i t  was  g iven  to  me in  wr i t ing.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   We l l ,  we  do  need tha t  document  tha t  

was  sen t  by  –  was  i t  by  POLMED or  by  Medscheme?  20 

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   No ,  i t  was POLMED.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   A l r igh t ,  wel l  we  do  need  tha t  l i s t  then .  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   So  we had  an  a rgument  abou t  th is .   I  sa id  

why  a re  you  rac ia l  because  I  be l ieve  the  wh i te  docto r  canno t  unders tand 

and  I  w i l l  no t  express  as  I  wou ld  express  myse l f  to  the  Xhosa  doc to r  
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speak ing  my language.    

 So  I  f ind i t  so  rac ia l  to  re fe r  me to  the wh i t e  doc to rs  and  one  

doc to r  that  I  know here  that  i s  he re is  on ly  Dr  S temba o f  wh ich is  not  in  

p rac t ice  and  is  no  longer  a  doc to r.   I ’ ve  seen  h im on  the  s t ree t ,  menta l ly  

d is tu rbed .    

 So  I  found  myse l f  undermined by th is  –  by  POLMED be ing as a  

Premium payer  b ecause  I ’m the  one  who ’s  pay ing .   I  deserve  to  be 

t rea ted  w i th  d ign i t y  as  a  Premium payer.   Then  I  was to ld  to  lodge  my 

comp la in t  to  the CMS o f  wh ich  is  he re  o f  which  I  d id .   The response  tha t  I  

ge t  he re when  I  phone  when I  lodge  my comp la in t  –  I  was to ld  i t  was 10 

March  then .   I  was  to ld  . . .  ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Ja ,  when  d id  you  lodge  the  comp la in t?  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   I t  was  March.  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   March  o f  wh ich  year?  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   2018 ,  i t  was March  2018  then.   Then I  was 

to ld  tha t  my compla in t  I  th i nk  I  w i l l  ge t  someone  to  a t tend to  my 

compla in t  du r ing  Sep tember  mon th .    

 A t  tha t  t ime  my  t rea tment  as  a  chron i c  pa t ien t  was  abou t  to  

f in i sh .   Then  I  asked  fo r  the  reason  as  to  why does  i t  take  so  l ong .  

ADV KE RRY WILLIAMS :   D id  you  lod ge  the  compla in t  in  wr i t ing?  20 

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   In  w r i t i ng ,  yes .   

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :   Do  you  have  a  copy  o f  the  compla in t?   Can 

you  prov ide  i t  to  us?  

MR PHUMEZA M NTUSANTO :   No,  apparent l y  I  d idn ’ t  b r i ng  i t  w i th  me 

now bu t  I  can  emai l  you  a t  some s tage  i f  needed .  



CMS : SECTION 59 INVESTIGATION : 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 – DAY 11 
  
 

 Page 37 of 80 
 

 

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :   Okay,  thanks .   Sor ry,  I  in te r rup ted  you.   

Con t inue ,  you  asked  why you wou ld  on ly  ge t  a  response i n  Sep tember.  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   Yes.   But  even tua l l y  I  was  phoned las t  

yea r  in  November,  no t  even Sep tember.   I  was  no t  g i ven the  reason  as  

to  why  because  they  say  the re ’s  a  lo t  o f  compla in ts  tha t  a re  

accumula t ing  f rom CMS so i t  migh t  be  one  o f  the  reasons and  I  was 

g iven  a  person  who  was  go ing  to  be  dea l ing  w i th  my  comp la in t  tha t  

person phoned  me and te l l  me tha t  he ’s  nomina ted  as  a  pe rson tha t  i s  

go ing  to  be  dea l i ng  w i th  my  compla in t  and  i s  go ing  to  te l l  

…( in te rvenes) .  10 

ADV KE RRY WILLIAMS :   Was  a  CMS o ff i c ia l?  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   Yes,  CMS o ff i c i a l  yes .  

ADV KE RRY WILLIAMS :   Wha t  was  the  name o f  the  pe rson?  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSA NTO:   No,  I  can ’ t  reca l l  by  now.   I  canno t  reca l l  

now.   So  I  to l d  h im about  my  compla in t  and  abou t  –  I  to ld  h im tha t  I  

wan ted the  reason  as  to  why my doc tor  i s  be ing  removed  f rom the  l i s t  

o f  doctors .   He  sa id  he ’s  go ing  to  take  my  compla in t  fu r ther  and  he ’ s  

go ing  to  phone  me  back.   Up un t i l  now I  was no t  phoned .    

 So  dur ing  tha t  per i od  o f  wh i ch  March ,  I  was to ld  by  POLMED 

tha t  I  must  pay  Dr  Ngumbela  and  then  they ’ re  go ing  to  c la im to  the  20 

medica l  a id ,  you see?  I  to ld  them tha t  a t  t imes  i t  i s  ha rd  fo r  me to  have 

cash  to  go  to  the  doctor  o f  wh i ch  I ’m a  chron ic  pa t i en t ,  o f  wh i ch  i t  w i l l  

d isadvan tage  me  a t  t imes and  I  w i l l  end  up  end ing  w i th  no  t rea tment  

when mos t  needed .   They say  they can ’ t  do  o therw ise .    

So  I  mean  to  say  –  I  asked  them whe ther  they  do  no t  c are  
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about  my –  the  on ly  th ing  tha t  they  do  care  fo r  me i t ’s  about  my  

premiums tha t  they ’ re  deduc t ing  ou t  o f  my sa la ry.   Remember,  POLMED  

is  a  compulso ry  med ica l  a id  tha t  you  have to  –  you  don ’ t  have 

a l te rna t i ve  med ica l  a i d  tha t  you can  take  because i t ’s  co mpulso ry  fo r  us  

to  have  on ly  one med ica l  a i d  tha t  i s  POLMED .   So  i t  was  ano ther  

d isadvan tage  fo r  me ,  i t  was  no t  easy fo r  me  to  ge t  ano the r  med ica l  a id  

in  o rder  fo r  me  to  have  my  doc to r  back  and  I  was  re luc tan t  due  to  the  

fac t  tha t  I ’ ve  been  to  o ther  doc tor s .    

The t rea tment  tha t  you ge t ,  i t  i s  no t  the  same.   We d i f fe r  in  

customs and be l ie fs ;  I  mean  to  say as  Xhosa peop le .   Dr  Ngumbe la  10 

knew a l l  abou t  –  knew every th ing  abou t  me  inc lud ing  my ch i l d ren ,  my  

dependan ts  tha t  a re  on  my  med ica l  a id .   Remember  I  a lso  have 

dependan ts  tha t  a re  on  the  med ica l  a id  o f  wh ich  the re  a re  ch i ld ren ,  o f  

wh ich  they ’ ve  go t  compl i ca t ions  as  much  as  I  do  because  I ’m  a  chron ic  

pa t ien t  so  I  fee l  so  d isadvan taged  by  the  scheme tha t  has removed Dr  

Ngumbela .   Up un t i l  now I  s t i l l  don ’ t  hav e  a  doctor  tha t  I  can  say i t ’s  my  

doc tor  tha t  knows  my  h i s to ry  –  my  med ica l  h i s to ry  up  un t i l  now.  

Bu t  Dr  Ngumbela  adv ised  me  to  have  my  sc r ip ts  so  tha t  I  can  

go  to  ano ther  doc to r  tha t  can  unders tand me  be t te r  o f  wh i ch  I  d i d .  

Dur i ng  a  month  per i od  I  was  s i t t i ng  w i thou t  med ica t i on  because  I  was 20 

re luc tan t  to  go  to  another  doc to r  o f  wh i ch  dur ing  tha t  pe r iod  any th ing  

might  have  happened.   I  migh t  have  s t roke ;  I  migh t  have  anyth ing .   I  

cou ld  have  been  dead by  then  due  to  the  fac t  tha t  I  was  d i sadvan taged  

by  the  med ica l  a id .    

So  I  su f fe red  th i s  up  un t i l  now.   I t  took  me  four  weeks  to  ge t  
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my medica l  because my med ica l  a id  has  reques ted  f rom the  pharmacy  

o f  wh ich  the  doctor  d idn ’ t  know wha t  to  do ,  you see?   And  I  to l d  h im the  

way Dr  Ngumbela  was do ing  i t  and  so  the  med ica t i on  was de l i vered  a t  

h is  p remises .   So  apparen t ly  i t  took  me  four  weeks  to  have  my  

med ica t ion  back .   So  I  am s t i l l  no t  happy  …( in te rvenes) .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :   And  where  was  tha t  doc to r ’s  p rac t i ce  or  i s  

tha t  doc to r ’s  p rac t i ce?  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   I t ’s  Dr  Kwinana .  

ADV KE RRY WILLIAMS :   Where  i s  he  l oca ted?  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   He ’s  loca ted ,  I  th ink  i t ’ s  Oxford ,  i s  in  10 

town  –  he ’s  i n  the  CBD  –  he ’s  in  town .  

ADV KE RRY WILLIAMS :   Okay.  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   So  Dr  Ngumbela  w i l l  go  as  much  as  fa r  

as  your  home i f  a  person does  no t  –  i s  no t  ab le  to  go  by  h i s  –  he ’s  

v is i t ing  –  he ’s  no t  do ing  l i ke  any docto r.   I  don ’ t  ever  have  any doctor  

tha t  i s  do ing  tha t .   So  those  are  the  k ind  o f  th ings  tha t  the  Xhosa 

peop le  we be l ieve  i n .    

She goes  an  ex t ra  m i le  as  fa r  as  to  go  and v i s i t  to  show tha t  

she  cares ,  tha t  mean  i t  bu i lds  con f idence  and  i t  bu i lds  tha t  re la t ionsh ip  

be tween  you  and  he r.   So  I  f ind  i t  ve ry  ha rd  fo r  me  in  18  years ’ t ime  to  20 

change  a  doctor,  i t ’s  l i ke  I  was  d ivorc ing  w i th  my  w i fe  o f  wh ich  I  had  25  

yea rs .  Ch i l d ren  w i l l  be  ra i sed  by  a  s ing le  woman .   Tha t  w i l l  l ead  those  

ch i ld ren  to  go  on  the  s t ree ts ,  to  commi t  robber ies  and  murde rs  o f  wh i ch  

we  are  fac ing  today.  

ADV TEM BEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Can  you  go  back  to  the  s to ry,  i s  there  
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any th ing  you  wan t  to  add  on  the  way  in  wh ich  POLMED  t rea ted  you  and  

wha t  impac t  tha t  had on  you?  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   Yes ,  i t  does  have  an  impact  because  

any th ing  migh t  have happened dur i ng  tha t  per iod  tha t  I  had  no  

t rea tmen t  as  a  chron ic  pa t i en t  up  un t i l  I  fee l  l i ke  d isadvan tag ed 

because  the  th ings tha t  I  used  to  ge t  f rom Dr  Ngumbela ,  I ’m  s t i l l  no t  

ge t t i ng  i t  f rom the  cu r ren t  doc tor  tha t  I ’m  us ing .  

ADV KE RRY WILLIAMS :   Sor ry  to  i n te r rup t .   The  new doctor,  does  th is  

doc tor  have  the  same qua l i f i ca t ions  as  Dr  Ngumbela  i n  re la t ion  t o  

t rea t ing  cer ta in  chron ic  i l l nesses ,  do  you know?  10 

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   Apparen t l y  I  w i l l  no t  go  as  much  fa r  

because  I  don ’ t  know –  the  on l y  th i ng  tha t  I  know,  he ’s  a  qua l i f ied  

doc tor.  

ADV TEMBE KA NGCUKAITOBI :   A l r igh t ,  thank  you ,  un less  you  have  

any th ing  e l se  to  add .  

MR PHUMEZA MNTUSANTO :   No ,  tha t  i s  my submiss ions .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Thank  you ve ry  much and le t ’s  s ta r t  

w i th  –  we l l ,  you  are  the  las t .  

MR BUYIS ILE PAN :    My name is  Buy is i l e  Pan i  f rom Eas t  London .   I ’m 

a  pa t ien t  o f  Dr  Ngumbela .  20 

ADV TEMBE KA NGCUKAITOBI :   I t ’s  P -a -n- i?  

MR BUYIS ILE PAN :    P-a -n .  

ADV TEMBE KA NGCUKAITOBI :   Okay  bu t  you  pronounce i t  as  

…( in te rvenes) .  

MR BUYIS ILE PAN :    Bu t  wha t  i s  happen ing  there ,  because  they  sa id  



CMS : SECTION 59 INVESTIGATION : 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 – DAY 11 
  
 

 Page 41 of 80 
 

 

Pani ,  peop le  f rom there  in  Home A ffa i r s ,  they  fo rgo t  to  pu t  an  i  there  a t  

the  back .   They  sa id  i f  they  wan t  them to  pu t  tha t  i  they  must  b r ing  an  

ox .   I ’m go ing  to  ask  them to  pu t  i n  there ,  to  ge t  tha t  th ing .  

ADV TEM BEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   That  a lso  happened  to  my  fa ther  bu t  i t  

was no t  Home Af fa i r s ,  i t  was  the  pr i es t .   When he  wen t  to  reg is te r  h i s  

name they  took  ou t  the  y.  

MR BUYIS ILE PAN :    Those  peop le ,  s ome o f  the  peop le  now,  they  take  

our  peop le ,  the  b lack  peop le  now,  s t rugg le  to  ge t  the  who le  pay  bu t  

they  cu t  o f f  the  i ,  yes ,  those  peop le .    

When  I  come there  tha t  I  was  jo i ned  Bon i tas  on  the  1 /12 /2012.   10 

As a  person  who  eve ry  month  cont r ibu ted  to  the  sa la r ies  … ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Ja ,  i f  you  cou ld  j us t  s tep  back f rom 

the  microphone.  

MR BUYIS ILE PAN :    Oh ,  okay.  

ADV TEM BEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Ja,  we  can  hear  i t ,  j a .   You  don ’ t  need  

. . . ( i n te rvenes) .  

MR BUYIS ILE PAN :    Oh ,  okay.   As  a  pe rson who pa id  the  sa la r ies  o f  

the  peop le  fo r  Bon i tas  every  month ,  2  500 a  month  in  my subscr ip t ion  

in  my  company.   I  th ink  me ,  as  a  pr i nc ipa l  o f  Bon i tas ,  the  Bon i tas  jus t  

wan t  to  do  someth ing  abou t  me .   They ’ re  supposed  to  consu l t  me  in  20 

t ime w i th  a  du ra t ion  o f  one mon th  to  th ree  months ,  in  a  dura t ion  o f  one  

mon th  to  s i x  months  in  o rder  to  g i ve  me some pra ises as  some person 

who  pays  the i r  sa la r i es .  

 Las t  year  on  Ju ly  I  go  to  D r  Ngumbela .   I  was  very  s i ck ;  I ’ ve 

go t  the  f lu .   My  legs  is  no t  good .   When I  come to  Dr  Ngumbela  we 
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found  tha t  Bon i tas  i s  te rmina ted  the  con t rac t  to  D r  Ngumbela .    

One  ques t i on  I  asked the  f i r s t  t ime I  heard  tha t  th i ng ,  as  a  

pr inc ipa l  o f  Bon i tas ,  who  pay  them R2  500  every  month ,  why  they 

te rmina ted  the  con t rac t  o f  Ngumbela  w i thou t  consu l t ing  me as  the  

pr inc ipa l?  

 Now i t  shows me they t rea t  me as an  ob jec t ,  l i ke  th i s  g lass  I ’m  

ho ld ing .   Tha t  t ime  I ’m  very  s ick ,  I  can  be  –  because they  way  I ’ ve  go t  

the  f l u ,  I  can  fa l l  in  f ron t  o f  Dr  Ngumbela ,  maybe  can  be  d ied .   Bu t  the  

boa rd  o f  Bon i tas ,  they don ’ t  ca re  abou t  us  as  a  b lack  peop le  they don ’ t  

care  abou t  us  because when  I  go  to  Dr  N gumbela ,  I  speak my language  10 

wi th  the  Xhosa  bu t  when  I  come there ,  another  doc to r  they sen t  me ,  I ’m 

supposed to  speak i n  Eng l i sh .    

Some tha t  the  new doctor  they g ive  me  a f te r  fou r  months  

w i thou t  t rea tmen t ,  tha t  were  supposed  to  speak  Eng l i sh  and  I ’m  

supposed  to  go  the  doc tor  tha t  I  want ,  D r  Ngumbela  because  Xhosa i s  

one  o f  our  12  lan guages  i n  Sou th  Af r i ca .    

Now when  I ’m  go ing  there  and when I ’m on the  l i s t  tha t  o f  the  

pa t ien t  who  is  71  pa t ien t ,  who  has  a  chron ic  d i sease  who  has  been 

t rea ted  by  Dr  Ngumbela  as  backdated  f rom the  1 /12 /2012.   F rom tha t 

t ime  a f te r  I ’m  coming  the re ,  I  was supposed  to  wa l k  –  I ’m ve ry  s i ck  tha t  20 

t ime when  I  go  ou t  to  D r  Ngumbela ,  I  go  to  tha t  peop le  f rom Bon i tas ,  

the i r  o f f i ce ,  D r  Ngumbela  i s  in  P laza ,  I ’m  supposed  to  wa lk  about  20  

k i lome tres  f rom Plaza to  Vincen t  and tha t  t ime  I  was  s i ck .   To  go  there  

ask  why tha t  the  pr inc ipa l  o f  Bon i tas  who g ives  the  sa la r ies  to  the  

d i rec tors  and  the  board  o f  Bon i ta  no t  in fo rm in  one  mon th ’s  t ime  to  s i x  
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months ’ t ime  be fo re  they  can te rminate  the  con t rac t  o f  D r  Ngumbela ,  

the  pr inc ipa l  i s  the  p r inc ipa l .    

When I ’m  go ing  there  t hey  sa id  tha t  –  I  sa id  to  the  

admin i s t ra to rs  f rom Bon i tas  f rom Vincen t  tha t  I ’m  not  happy  the  way 

they  t rea t  me l i ke  an  ob jec t ,  l i ke  th is  bo t t le  o f  water  in  f ron t  o f  me .   

They ’ re  supposed  to  consu l t  me  in  t ime  f rom one  day  to  s i x  mon ths 

be fore  they  can te r m inate  the  con t rac t  o f  Dr  Ngumbela  and  g i ve  me  a  

t ime  to  g ive  my  op in ion  tha t  I ’m  happy  now to  te rmina te  the  cont rac t  o f  

Dr  Ngumbela  as  the i r  p r i nc ipa l .  

 Chron i c  pa t ien t ,  i t ’s  d i f f i cu l t  to  te l l  a l l  the  doc tors  f rom Eastern  10 

Cape tha t  I ’m  a  chron ic  pa t i en t .   They ’ re  supposed to  te l l  D r  Ngumbela  

to  take  some b lood  tes ts .   I t  means  tha t  can  go  to  a l l  the  doc tors  f rom 

Eas tern  Cape  to  ask  someone can  you  take  me.   When I ’m  go ing  there  

w i th  my  op t ion ,  Boncap ,  they  sa id  to  me th is  op t i on  you ’ re  tak ing  is  too  

cheap ,  you  mus t  have R100 ,00  in  f ron t  o f  500 .  

Bu t  when I  go t  to  Dr  Ngumbela ,  Dr  Ngumbela  i s  rep resent i ng  

the  work ing  c lass ,  no  R100 ,00  they  can  ask  to  me  bu t  d isadvan tag ing  

me  they te l l  me  in  Vincen t  tha t  I  mus t  go  to  D r  van  der  Merwe .   I ’m  

supposed to  wa l k  f rom  my  a rea f rom Brae l yn ,  20  k i l ome tres .  I  wa lk  f rom 

Brae l yn  to  Vincent ,  20  k i lome tres  and I ’m s ick  tha t  t ime.   I  mus t  wa lk  20 

f rom Vincen t  to  town ,  20  k i lome tres  to  go  to  th is  doc to r,  they ca l l  Dr  

van  der  Merwe.  

 When I  go t  to  th i s  Dr  van de r  Merwe ,  they  reques t  fo r  me,  then  

they  need  R100 ,00  up f ron t .   Hey  i t ’s  a  d i f f i cu l t  t ime  tha t  t ime,  I ’m  s i ck ,  

because  in  my  work  I ’m no t  pay ye t ,  I ’m  supposed  to  wa i t ,  you  see ,  I ’m  
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supposed to  wa i t  to  ge t  pa id  to  consu l t  tha t  Dr  van de r  Merwe and  tha t  

Dr  van  de r  Merwe  tha t  t i me ,  I ’m  supposed  to  look  –  because  they  sa id  

doc tors  my  op t ion  Boncap  i s  too  cheap ,  I  must  a l l  the  who le  Eas te rn  

Cape  doc to rs  –  can  you  take  –  th i s  i s  my  op t ion ,  a l l  o f  them because o f  

the  tac t i c  o f  Boncap.  

 A t  n igh t  I ’m  no t  s leep because  I ’ ve  go t  depresse d and s t ress .   

I f  I  ask  my  ques t ion ,  i f  I  am fa l l en  in  f ron t  o f  Dr  Ngumbela  in  tha t  t ime  

and  f i nd  tha t  Bon i tas  canno t  t e rmina te  the  con t rac t .   I f  I ’m d ie  tha t  

t ime ,  how can  I  do  tha t  t ime?   Tha t  t ime  is  re la ted  to  tha t  t ime  i n  Ju l y  in  

2018.   In  tha t  t ime  I  w i l l  ge t  tha t  th i ngs  about  the  l i f e  o f  the  c i t y  man 10 

where  you can f ind  tha t  the  l i f e  o f  the  b lack  peop le  i s  t rea ted  l i ke  th is  

g lass .  

How can  you  te rmina te  the  con t rac t  o f  the  pe rson  who  have  a  

con t rac t  w i th  D r  Ngumbela?   We’ re  no t  g i ven  a  chance  to  one  da y  to  s i x  

mon ths to  l ook ano ther  doc to r  who  can to  g i ve  to  the  100% t rea tment  

l i ke  Dr  Ngumbela .   I  ge t  no  t rea tmen t  fo r  four  months because I ’m  go ing  

a l l  ove r  fo r  the  doc to rs  to  look  wh ich  doctor  can take  me  fo r  th is  cheap  

op t ion ,  Boncap.  

Now,  I  f ind  tha t  a f te r  th is  th ing ,  I  ge t  a  doc to r  in  Buf fa lo  F la ts  

then  in  tha t  t ime  they  te rmina te  the  con t rac t  to  Dr  Ngumbela .   In  tha t  20 

t ime I  had to  renew my  b lood  tes t  f rom Dr  Ngumbela .   Now am I  

supposed to  go  to  a l l  the  doctors  f rom Eas te rn  Cape  to  tes t  my b lood 

tes t  to  now my  b lood  –  ch ron ic  cond i t ion  i s  p r iva te  –  i s  p r iva te .   Nobody  

can  know abou t  you r  b lood  cond i t i on ,  i t ’s  supposed to  you  and  you r  

w i fe ,  even your  fami l y.    



CMS : SECTION 59 INVESTIGATION : 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 – DAY 11 
  
 

 Page 45 of 80 
 

 

You cannot  te l l  abou t  your  med ica l  hea l th  because  tomorrow 

you  can  have  somebody  in  the  shebee n  can ta l k ing  abou t  your  

hea l th iness .   In  these p laces,  l i ke  Dr  Ngumbela ,  Dr  Ngumbela  employ  

about  20  peop le  the re ,  they ’ re  work ing  there  in  h is  p lace  –  in  h i s  GP.   

Now I  mus t  go  the re  –  those peop le  f rom Dr  Ngumbela ,  they ’ re  

employed,  they  know my  ch ron ic  s ta tus .   Now I ’m  supposed  to  go  

ano ther  doc to r,  D r  van der  Merwe .   D r  van der  Merwe  got  another  20 

persons  to  check  my  b lood  tes t  to  know my  s ta tus ,  my  hea l th  s ta tus .   

Now even me  now,  40  peop le  now they  can know abou t  my hea l th  

s ta tus .   Now tomorrow you  can  go  the re  i n  the  shebeen,  everybody 10 

ta l k ing  and  d r ink ing ,  ta l k ing  about  my hea l th  s ta tus .    

Tha t ’s  why  I  say  tha t  I  am very  in te res t ing  to  see  the  board  o f  

governors  o f  th is  Bon i tas  schemes because I  want  to  see  the i r  s t ruc ture  

i s  a  democra t ica l  represe n ta t ion .   As  you  see i n  f ron t  o f  you ,  i t ’s  

democra t i c  represen ta t ion  in  f ron t  o f  me  o f  the  th ree .    

How can peop le  –  Mr  Dr  Ngumbela  i s  the re ,  abou t  100  v i l l ages ,  

K ing  Wi l l iams town ,  Komga ,  K idds Beach more  peop le  the re .   Some o f  

them they ’ re  o ld  person  who  are  . . . ( ind i s t i nc t )  there .   How do  those 

peop le  now they  can  t rea t  the  l i f e  o f  the  b lack  peop le  l i ke  the  way they 

t rea t  us  because  even tha t  fo r  fou r  mon ths w i thout  med ica l  t rea tmen t ,  i t  20 

means  they  canno t  care  about  our  hea l th  l i ke  the  way  the  government  

o f  Gau teng  can  do  in  our  coun te r  pa t ien t  the  b lack  peop le  the re  in  

Gau teng .   ( Ind i s t i nc t )  in  one  t ime there  i n  mncega ,  what  a re  they  do ing  

there?   

The  wh i te  fa rmers  o f  South  A f r i ca ,  wha t  a re  they  do ing?   They  
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sa id  a l l  the  b lack  peop le  now,  they  must  k i l l  the i r  b lack  p igs  and  g i ve  

advan tage  to  the  wh i te  fa rmers  to  …( ind i s t i nc t )  the  wh i te  p igs  in  o rder  

tha t  they  …( ind i s t inc t )  tha t  they  mus t  k i l l  the  b lack  p igs  w i thou t  tes t ing 

these b lack  p igs  i s  i l l ,  to  g i ve  an  advan tage to  the  b lack  fa rmers  to  be  

r i ch .    

I t ’s  the  way  they do  to  Dr  Ngumbela .   When  I ’m  coming the re  

in  Vincen t ,  they  g i ve  one  doc to r  mus t  go ,  Dr  van  de r  Merwe .   Why  don ’ t  

they  g i ve  me  ano the r  doc to r  –  ano ther  b lack  doctor  to  go  the re ,  to  t rea t  

me  fo r  my  chron ic  cond i t ion?   Must  take  the  money f rom  Dr  Ngumbela  

to  enr i ch  the  wh i te  doc to r,  Dr  van  der  Merwe .    10 

Now in  the  o ther  s ide ,  in  tha t  t ime  when  I ’m  coming there  in  

Vincen t ,  I  asked  them why  do  you  te rmina te  the  con t rac t  o f  D r  

Ngumbela?   They  ta lk  th is  –  the  admin i s t ra to rs ,  they  ta lk  abou t  bad 

th ings abou t  D r  Ngumbela .   We  found  tha t  a l l  tha t  th ings  o f  D r  

Ngumbela  i n  the  f i le ,  no th ing  they ’ve  go t  the re ,  those  the  

admin i s t ra to rs  in  Vincen t  i s  there  o f  Dr  Ngumbela  i s  emphas is ing  i n  h i s  

s ta tement .   I t  shows  tha t  there ’s  a  s t ra tegy  now to  the  Bon i tas  Me d ica l  

Scheme to  enr i ch  the  wh i te  doc tors  in  the  expense  o f  the  b lack  doc tors ,  

Dr  Ngumbela .   They  use  us ,  ou r  money,  our  2  500 ,  i s  ou r  expense .    

Now wha t  can  I  say  now to  th i s  p lace  now?   We want  them to  20 

re ins ta te  Dr  Ngumbe la ’s  con t rac t  back ,  the n  you can ab le  to  go  to  D r  

Ngumbela  to  exp la in  our  s ickness  w i th  our  mo ther  tongue,  Xhosa ,  you 

see?  Each t ime  you go  the re ,  you can  go  to  Dr  van der  

Merwe,…( ind is t inc t )  to ld  the  who le  s to ry  to  Dr  van  der  Merwe .   You  

canno t  g i ve  the  who le  s to ry  because  i t  i s  a  p rob l em o f  language ,  you  
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see?  Tha t ’s  why we  say tha t  we –  tha t  scheme Bon i tas  supposed to  be  

d isso l ved  because I ’ ve  go t  no  con f i dence w i th  them.  They were  the  

rac i s t ,  they  want  the  wh i te  doc to rs  to  be  r i ch  more  than  Dr  Ngumbela ,  

they  wan t  to  use  ou r  2  500  to  enr i ch  the  wh i te  doctors .    

There fore ,  we  say  tha t  th is  Commiss ion ,  a l l  to  D r  Ngumbela  

the  Bon i tas  scheme was supposed to  be  pun ished tha t  t ime .   I  don ’ t  

know how many b lack  pa t ien ts  they  were  coming ;  Dr  Ngumbela  d id  no t  

ge t  the i r  se rv i ce .   Maybe  a l l  o f  th em canno t  be  ab le  to  come th is  

Commiss ion  and exp la in  what  i s  happen ing  to  them.   Maybe  some o f  

them they  have  d ied  because  we ’ re  no t  ye t  uhuru  because  they  are  10 

b lack  peop le  now,  they  were  t rea ted  l i ke  –  the i r  l i ves  l i ke  th is  g lass  o f  

wa ter  in  f ron t  o f  me.   Thank  you .  

ADV TEM BEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Thank  you  very  much .   We’ve  no ted  

the  th ings  you ’ ve  been  say ing ,  some o f  them are  common but  o thers  

a re  un ique  bu t  we ’ ve  no ted  them.   D r  Ngumbela  must  back to  you 

because  you ’ ve  now come to  the  end o f  th is  tes t imony s o  i f  you  have 

any  c los ing  remarks  to  make.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUM BELA :    I  don ’ t  wan t  to  ta l k  too  much  abou t  the  

f inanc ia l  impact ,  60% of  my  pat i en ts  were  f rom Medscheme o f  course ,  

and  th is  had  grave f i nanc ia l  impac ts  on  me.   As my  pa t ien ts  have  sa id ,  20 

i t  has  an  i mpac t  on  my image  as  an  e lde r  o r  a  mo the r  in  the  communi ty  

because  now they g i ve  an  impress ion  tha t  I ’m a  –  I ’m d ishonest ,  I ’m  a  

crook  and  l i ke  my  las t  pa t i en t  jus t  sa id ,  they  need  to  be  pun ished  fo r  a l l  

tha t  they  have done .  

 And,  to  be  hones t ,  I  fee l  in  m y case  i f  they  though t  they 
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wanted those records and I  wasn ’ t  fo r thcoming i n  b r ing ing  them, they  

cou ld  have ob ta ined  consen t  f rom the  pa t ien ts .   I f  they  though t  the  

pa t ien ts  –  they  have  access  to  the  pa t ien ts ,  they  can  emai l  them,  they 

can  phone  them,  they  can  fax  them i f  there ’s  any th ing .   A l l  th ings  a re  

easy  to  p rove and I  fee l  tha t  someth ing  has  to  be  done.  

ADV TEM BEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Can  you  jus t  te l l  me ,  I  mean ,  I ’m  sure  

we  get  the  i n fo rma t i on  e l sewhere .   So  the  one  pa t ien t  says  tha t  they  

were  g i ven the  name o f  Van de r  Merwe who prac t i ces  f rom Vincen t ,  the  

o ther  says they were  g iven  14  names –  15  names o r  on l y  one  o f  them 

was b lack  and  tha t  b lack  pe rson  was  menta l l y  d i s tu rbed.   What  i s  the  10 

compos i t i on  o f  the  popu la t i on  o f  doc tors  in  Eas t  London?   I  mean  i s  i t  

imposs ib le  to  f ind  . . . ( in te rvenes)?  

DR NONKOSI  NGUM BELA :    There  are  many  b lack  prac t i t ioners  bu t  

there  were  –  they ’ re  dwind l ing  now because  o f  these  prob lems  wh ich  I  

rea l i se  tha t  they ’ ve  been a f fec t ing  everybody and  fo r  there  to  be  a  l i s t  

o f  15  to  1 ,  tha t  i s  an  obv ious  b ias ,  there  are  more  b lack  prac t i t i oners  

than  wh i te  p rac t i t i oners ,  much  more  b lack  p rac t i t ioners  than  wh i te  

p rac t i t i one rs  in  th i s  l and .  

ADV TEMBE KA NGCUKAITOBI :   Is  the re  any th ing  e lse  you wan t  to  

add?  20 

DR NONKOSI  NGUM BELA :    No ,  no t .  

ADV TEMBE KA NGCUKAITOBI :   A l r igh t ,  thank you  very  much .   Thank 

you  fo r  coming a l l  the  way f rom Mon t i  to  g i ve  your  ev idence to  th i s  

commiss ion .  Those  peop le  who  are  sea ted  on  tha t  o ther  s ide  w i l l  be  in  

con tac t  w i th  you  a f te r  we  are  done  to day ’s  sess ion .   
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DR NONKOSI  NGUM BELA :    May I  p l ease ask  fo r  a  l i t t l e  th i ng ,  I  th ink  

some o f  my pa t ien ts  d id  no t  know tha t  o r  unders tand  tha t  the  

commiss ion  i s  open  to  the  pub l i c  and may have d isc losed  persona l  

hea l th  i n fo rma t i on ,  can  the  v ideo  be  cu t?  Excuse me ,  my  pa t i en ts  d id  

no t  know tha t  some o f  the  commiss ion  is  open  or  they  d idn ’ t  unders tand 

tha t .   Somebody  may have ,  w i thou t  mean ing  i t ,  sa id  someth ing  abou t  

the i r  hea l th  and  so  on  tha t ’s  no t  supposed  to  be  pub l i c .   Can the  v ideos 

be  cu t  o r  someth ing  l i ke  tha t?  

ADV TEMBE KA NGCUKAITOBI :   Ja ,  I  mean  I  d id  no te  tha t  w i th  the  las t  

pa t ien ts  tha t  there  were  d isc losu res  tha t  were  p robab l y  inadve r ten t ,  so  10 

we wi l l  l ook  in to  tha t .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUM BELA :    Thank  you .  

ADV TEMBE KA NGCUKAITOBI :   Bu t  I  no ted  i t  because  –  yes.  

DR NONKOSI  NGU M BELA:    Thank  you .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Un less  there ’s  someone e lse  you ’ re  

ta l k ing  abou t  because I  no ted  the  connec t ion  to  71 ,  so  tha t  i s  the  

prob lem.  

DR NONKOSI  NGUM BELA :    Yes,  I  th ink  i t  i s  jus t  –  eve ry th ing  needs  to  

be  changed.  

ADV TEMBE KA NGCUKA ITOBI :   Okay,  no ,  tha t ’s  f ine .  20 

DR NONKOSI  NGUM BELA :    Tha t ’s  on  pa t ien ts  . . . ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBE KA NGCUKAITOBI :   A l r i gh t ,  thank you  very  much,  thank  

you  fo r  coming  and  bes t  o f  l uck .  

DR NONKOSI  NGUM BELA :    Thank  you  very  much.  

ADV TEMBE KA NGCUKAITOBI :   A l r igh t ,  we ’ l l  ad journ  un t i l  12 :00 .  
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INQUIRY ADJOURNS  

INQUIRY RESUMES 

ADV TEMBE KA NGCUKAITOBI :   Good  a f te rnoon .  Mr  Mo lepo .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:     Good  af te rnoon.  Thank  you .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Yes ,  so  th is  i s  the  con t inua t ion  o f  the 

Sec t ion  59  o f  the  Medica l  Schemes Ac t  Inves t iga t ion .   We a re  go ing  to  be  

hear ing  tes t imony f rom Mr  Mo lepo ,  who  is  one  o f  the  ind iv idua l  

comp la inan ts .  Yes ,  Mr  Mo lepo ,  wha t  i s  the  –  a re  you by yourse l f?   I  see 

the re  is  name tags  … (in te rvenes) .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOL EPO:   Yes .  10 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   On  a t  leas t  two o ther  desks .  Are  you 

wa i t ing  fo r  someone e lse?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:      No ,  I  am a lone .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   I  see ,  okay.  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:     Ja.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   So the  p rocedure  we fo l low;  we  take  the 

oa th  and then you  can  go th rough wi th  your  p resen ta t ion .   A re you  go ing 

to  take  the  oa th  o r  the  a f f i rmat ion?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   The  oa th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   The  oa th  is  f ine ,  a l r igh t .   So  w i l l  you  say 20 

a f te r  me,  I ,  and  your  names.  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   I ,  Lephod isa  S tephen  Mo lepo .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Swear  tha t  the ev idence that  I  sha l l  

g ive .  
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MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Swear  tha t  the  ev idence  tha t  I  

sha l l  g ive .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Sha l l  be  the  t ru th .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Sha l l  be  the  t ru th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   The who le  t ru th  and  no th ing  bu t  the 

t ru th .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   The  who le  t ru th  and  noth ing but  

the  t ru th .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   I f  so ,  ra ise  your  r ig h t  hand  and  say so 

he lp  me God.  10 

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   So  he lp  me God.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Thank  you  ve ry  much .  Yes ,  you  may 

p roceed .   You  may take  i t  tha t  we  are  fami l ia r  w i th  the wr i t ten  

p resen ta t ion  you  have made to  the  pane l ,  bu t  o f  course  i f  the re  are  th ings 

tha t  you  fee l  a re  c ruc ia l  you  must  take  us  through  them.  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Thank  you.   I f  I  may a lso  ask ,  I  

have made two  submiss ions  and  the f i rs t  one  was in  June when the ca l l  

fo r  submiss ions was made and the  most  recen t  one  was on  the  8 t h  o f  

Sep tember,  wh ich  was a  l i t t le  more  s t ruc tu red  in  te rms o f  your 

commun ica t ion.   I  am not  su re  how i t  i s  p re fe r red tha t  I  go th rough th is .   20 

Shou ld  I  read  th rough every th ing?   Shou ld  I  summar ise  every th ing?  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Yes ,  you  have  abou t  an  hour  to  speak  so  

I  am no t  go ing  to  conf ine  you.   We wi l l  a lso  be  ask ing  you  quest ions  so 

jus t  te l l  us  the  s to ry  as  you  wou ld .   We do  no t  necessar i l y  wan t  you  to  
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read  th rough  every th ing  bu t  we  wan t  you  to  cover  a l l  o f  the  most  

impor tan t  aspects  f rom where  you  see the  s to ry.  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Oh ,  thank you  ve ry  much .   Because 

my ba t t le  w i th  the  med ica l  scheme concerned  is  most ly  on  the re lease of  

pa t ien t  c l in ica l  in fo rmat ion .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Yes .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN M OLEPO:   Wh ich  …( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Maybe  you  can  s ta r t  by  in t roduc ing 

yourse l f  abou t  your  p rac t ice  and wha t  re la t ionsh ips you  have w i th  the 

schemes and  where you  p rac t ice so we have a be t te r  con text  to  your 10 

s t rugg les  w i th  the  med ica l  sc heme.  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Oh ,  thank you .   I  am Stephen 

Mo lepo .   I  am a c l in ica l  psycho log is t .   I  am based in  Po lokwane.   I  

p rac t ise  under  the  p rac t ice  name Mo lepo Incorporated Psycho log is ts  and 

I  have  been  in  th is  p rac t ice  s ince  February 2017.   I  have  a lso  been  in  a 

par tne rsh ip ,  a  p r iva te  p rac t ice  f rom 2008  a lso  in  Po lokwane be fo re  I  cou ld  

move  in to  my own p rac t ice .   I  a lso  worked  fo r  the  Depar tment  o f  Hea l th  

based  in  L impopo  as  we l l ,  Lebowakgomo Hosp i ta l ,  f rom 2003  unt i l  end  o f  

2007  when  I  moved  in to  p r iva te  p rac t ice .    

I  have  a lways  been  work ing  w i th  med ica l  schemes,  a l l  o f  them 20 

tha t  cover  psycho logy  se rv ices .   We never  had  any  p rob lems un t i l  

recen t ly,  to  be  exac t ,  in  2018,  las t  year,  when I  rece ived  commun ica t ion 

f rom one  med ica l  scheme,  GEMS,  G overnment  Emp loyees Med ica l  

Schemes.   They  were jus t  query ing why I  seemed to  be see ing a  lo t  o f  

pa t ien ts  and I  made a  c la r i f i ca t ion  in  a  wr i t ten  commun ica t ion  w i th  them 
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tha t  I  work  in  p r iva te  p rac t ice fu l l  t ime .   I  am a lways in  the  o f f i ce  and 

the re is  no  reason why I  canno t  see as many peop le  compared to  perhaps 

some o f  my co l leagues  and  peers  who  cou ld  be  work ing  fo r  another 

ins t i tu t ion,  say,  the  government  hosp i ta l  o r  the  un ive rs i t y  nearby  and 

see ing p r iva te  pat ients  a t  o ther  t imes .  But  they have  never  f o l lowed  up 

ever  s ince .   I  ge t  i t  they  were  c la r i f ied.   

I  then  rece ived  commun ica t ion  f rom Discovery  Hea l th  on  the  8 t h  

o f  May 2018  who a lso  quer ied  my p rac t ice  and they a l leged tha t  I  was 

p rac t is ing  as  an  ou t l ie r,  someth ing  l i ke  tha t ,  in  te rms o f  the i r  

commun ica t ion.   They wan ted  to  ve r i f y  whe ther  I  am see ing  those pa t ients  10 

or  I  have  seen those pa t ien ts  o r  no t .   I  have  f i l t e red  the workshee t  o r  the 

exce l  and  sent  i t  th rough  to  them as  con f i rmat ion  o f  the  l i s t  o f  pa t ien ts  

they wan ted to  see .   Tha t  i s  the reco rd we  keep  of  the pa t ien ts  tha t  

consu l t  in  ou r  p rac t ice .   We keep  them on  the  exce l  sp readsheet ,  

Mic roso f t  Exce l ,  on  the  compute r  and  we a lso  record  them on  the  d ia ry.   

They  reques ted  me to  send  cop ies  o f  the  d ia ry  o r  b r ing  the  d ia ry  to  the i r  

o f f i ces in  Sand ton and  a lso to  send them or  g ive them the  c l in ica l  notes 

so  tha t  they  can  ve r i f y.  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS:   Mr  Mo lepo ,  can I  in te r rup t?   D id  you  say you 

tha t  you  sen t  them a  copy  o f  the  exce l  sp readshee t  w i th  these  records?  20 

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Yes .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS:   Can  you  just  take  me to  where  in  the  bund le  

th is  i s?   Or  have you  no t  p rov ided  i t  to  us?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   I t  was  no t  –  I  rea l ised  i t  was  no t  

p rov ided to  you  bu t  I  do  have  a  copy  here  w i th  me.  
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ADV KERRY WILLIAMS:   P lease  can  you  hand  i t  up  i f  you  have a  copy  or  

g ive  i t  to  the secre ta r ia t  to  make  cop ies i f  you  on ly  have  one .   Tha t  wou ld 

be  g rea t .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Cer ta in ly.   I  can  do  tha t .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS:   And  tha t  inc ludes  the  fu l l  exce l  sp readshee t  as 

an  a t tachment  I  assume?  I t  inc ludes  the  ema i l  p lus  the  a t tachment .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Tha t  i s  wha t  I  have .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS:   Thanks .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Yes .   I t  was  submi t ted  as  a  

ve r i f i ca t ion to  them.   I  have reques ted tha t  –  o r  I  have  ind ica ted to  them 10 

tha t  I  am no t  ab le  to  send  th rough the  d ia r ies  o r  cop ies the reo f .   The 

reason  be ing  the  d ia ry  is  b ig ,  i t  i s  the  whole  year ’s  d ia ry  and  i t  con ta ins 

no t  on ly  the  names o f  the pa t ien ts  who  be long  to  D iscovery Med ica l  

Scheme so i t  was to  me unfa i r  to  the o ther pa t ien ts  who consu l ted  in  the 

p rac t ice  who  …( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Do  you  have  the  sp readshee t  w i th  you?  

The  spreadshee t  tha t  you  gave  to  D iscovery.  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   There  is  a  copy.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAI TOBI :   A l r igh t .   Perhaps  we  shou ld  run  a  copy.  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Okay.  20 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   And  then  d is t r ibu te  i t .   I  mean 

p resumab ly  i t  con ta ins  names o f  pa t ien ts .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   I t  does .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   And  tha t  k ind  o f  th ing .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Yes .  
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ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   You  should  jus t  a le r t  us  to  whether  the re 

is  any th ing  spec i f i ca l ly  con f iden t ia l  the re  tha t  we  shou ld  not  see .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Th is  i s  bas ica l ly  the  da te  when  the 

pa t ien t  consu l ted .   We do  the  invo ic ing sys tems so i t  i s  the re  is  an 

invo ice  number,  the  t ime  they  consu l ted ,  then the name,  the i r  address 

and the i r  f i le  number  wh ich  cou ld  be  an accoun t  number  on our  sys tem,   

and  the med ica l  a id  they  be long  to ,  the  med ica l  a id  number,  the  opt ion 

and  the i r  con tac t .   There  is  no  c l in ica l  in fo rmat ion  on  tha t .   I  assume that  

–   took  i t  th is  i s  the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  Discovery  cou ld  have a t  the i r  

d isposa l  so  i t  was  not  a  b igger  p rob lem to  share w i th  them compared to  10 

the  c l in ica l  no tes  themse lves .   And  more  so ,  that  I  have  f i l t e red on ly  the 

names they  wan ted  and  exc luded  a l l  the  o ther  names.    

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Maybe  we shou ld  jus t  ge t  a  copy o f  tha t .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Thank  you.  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS:   And  I  see  you  are  hand ing  a  copy  o f  the  exce l  

sp readsheet ,  can  you  jus t  conf i rm the  da te  i t  was  sen t  to  D iscovery?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Uhm,  i t  was  sen t  on  –  I  am go ing 

to  need  to  check  bu t  i t  was  soon  af te r  the i r  co r respondence  on  the  8 t h .   I t  

was  sen t  on  the  10 t h  o f  May 2018 .   And  fo r  the  pa t ien t  c l in ica l  record 

…( in te rvenes) .  20 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Can  you  jus t  exp la in  how was tha t  go ing 

to  he lp  you?  My unders tand ing is  tha t  wha t  GEMS wanted ,  they  wan ted 

con f i rmat ion  o f  ce r ta in  consu l ta t ions  wh ich  you  p r ov ided  bu t  D iscovery  

a l ready  had a  v iew tha t  you  seemed to  be  an  out l ie r.  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Ja.  
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ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   When compared  to  your  peers .   Whether 

tha t  i s  na t iona l  o r  loca l  I  cou ld  not  work  ou t .   But  the  sp readshee t  that  

you  gave t hem,  how was tha t  go ing  to  he lp  D iscovery  to  se t t le  the 

concern  that  you  were an  ou t l ie r?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   They  needed to  ve r i f y  tha t  the 

pa t ien ts  had  indeed  consu l ted  and  to  me tha t  was  the  eas ie r  way to  show 

them and  I  had  reques ted them,  my  unders tand ing  is  D iscovery  has  got  

o f f i ces a l l  over  the coun t ry.   They do have an  o f f i ce  in  Po lokwane.   I  know 

where  i t  i s .   And  I  had  sugges ted  and  reques ted to  them that  ins tead o f  

me scann ing o r  post ing  o r  cour ie r ing anyth ing ,  can  they ra ther  come to  10 

the o f f i ce  and  v iew the  d ia r ies?  The i r  response  was they  canno t .   They 

w i l l  no t  come;  I  shou ld  be the  one  tha t  come to  the i r  o f f i ce  in  Sandton o r  

make  sure  tha t  the  in fo rmat ion  reaches them.  

 They  kep t  qu ie t  I  th ink  cons iderab ly  a round  fo r  abou t  th ree 

months  because  they on ly  came back  in  August  send ing  an ema i l  and 

demand ing tha t  I  g ive them the in fo rmat ion aga in  and  the ema i l  was  sen t  

approx imate ly  on  the 5 t h  o f  Augus t  and  they  expected  tha t  on  the  9 t h  I  

shou ld  have g iven them the  in fo rmat ion.   And I  s t i l l  reques ted  tha t  I  am 

no t  ab le  to  send  th rough  the  in fo rmat ion un less  I  have  consen t  o f  the 

pa t ien ts  tha t  I  shou ld  send the  c l in ica l  in format ion  to  them or  they  cou ld  20 

a lso  come to  the  o f f i ce  because  cer ta in ly  they have  someone in  

Po lokwane who can  come and  go  th rough  the  d ia ry  and  ve r i f y  every th ing, 

and  they s t i l l  re fused .  

 They  ins tead re fe r red me to  one o f  the i r  procedures in  te rms o f 

the Med ica l  Schemes Ac t  tha t  as the med ica l  scheme they a re en t i t led to 
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ge t  a l l  the  in fo rmat ion  they  so  requ i re  abou t  the i r  pa t ien t .  Bu t  wha t  a lso 

the  gent leman I  spoke to ,  M r  Ar ie l  Marcus   ind ica ted  tha t ,  no ,  I  shou ld  not  

wor ry  because  they  a re  no t  go ing  to  go  th rough  and  read  th rough  the 

c l in ica l  no tes,  they  jus t  need  to  ve r i f y.   And my ques t ion  was,  how a re  you 

no t  go ing  t o  read  them when you  have  them a t  your  d isposa l  and  you  a re 

no t  a  hea l th  ca re p rov ider,  you a re no t  a  med ica l  p rac t i t ioner  bu t  you a re 

on ly  do ing your  invest iga t ions  and  i t  i s  on ly  fa i r  and  easy  tha t  you  can 

come to  the  o f f i ce  and  do  your  inves t iga t ions  an d  I  w i l l  p rov ide  you  w i th  

the  in fo rmat ion you need  as  long  as i t  i s  not  on  any  med ium p la t fo rm.    

I  was  scep t ica l  abou t  send ing  th rough  any such  in fo rmat ion .  My 10 

worry  was  tha t  f i rs t  I  do not  have  such consen t  and ,  f rom the pa t ien t ,  

wh ich  the  gen t leman ind i ca ted  the  onus  is  on  me,  I  am the  one  who 

shou ld  run  a round  and  ca l l  pa t ients  to  come and  s ign consen t  so  tha t  I  

can  re lease the  in fo rmat ion  and  i f  I  do not  do  tha t ,  they w i l l  not  do  i t  as 

we l l .   And  what  he  a lso  expressed  was that  by  the i r  members  s ign ing  to  

become members  o f  the i r  med ica l  scheme they  have a l ready  s igned 

consen t  to  re lease  every th ing  to  them.  But ,  I  s t i l l  ma in ta ined the 

in fo rmat ion tha t  he  re fe r red  me to ,  wh ich  was Sec t ion  15( j )  o f  the i r  

p rocedures  and so on  in  te rms o f  the  Med ica l  Scheme s Ac t ,  was  on ly  

quo t ing  the  par t  where  he  ind icates  the  med ica l  a id  is  en t i t led  to  rece ive 20 

the in fo rmat ion  inc lud ing  the c l in ica l  records  bu t  he  d id  no t  comple te  tha t 

sen tence  wh ich ,  as I  read ,  ind ica ted  that  tha t  shou ld  be  done wi th  the  

express  consent  o f  the  pa t ien t .   So  I  s t i l l  cou ld  no t  do  tha t  and they  a lso 

wen t  qu ie t  un t i l  November  and they  ind icated in  the i r  ema i l  as  we l l  that  

because  I  have  fa i led  to  g ive  them the  in fo rmat ion  they  needed,  they  were 
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go ing to  imp lement  the i r  measures wh ich  inc luded  to  s top  payment s in to 

our  p ract ice  when we see the i r  members  and  to  recover  the money they 

have  a l ready  pa id  fo r  the  consu l ta t ions  that  we  had  and  they  ha l ted  such 

payments.  From December  I  have never rece ived  any payments f rom 

Discovery  and they  s ta r ted  the i r  c law back  p rocess .  

 They  sen t  me severa l  ema i l s  and  to  date  I  s t i l l  con t inue to 

rece ive  le t te rs  wh ich now ind ica te  they  have  incor rec t ly  pa id  money in to 

our  p ract ice  and I  need  to  pay  them back.   I  need to  re fund  the  money 

tha t  they have  pa id .   And  to  t h is  da te  I  have  s t i l l  not  been ab le  to  send 

them or  pay  them any th ing because  I  s t i l l  be l ieve  tha t  the i r  demand is  10 

un fa i r  and  they  a re  no t  w i l l ing  invo lve  pa t ien ts  because  I  asked them to  

invo lve  the i r  pa t ien ts  –  the i r  members  to  con tac t  me and  le t  me know  tha t  

they  need  the i r  in format ion  re leased .   I  wou ld  ra ther  have  re leased 

in fo rmat ion to  them  – so r ry,  such  c l in ica l  records ,  I  cou ld  have  re leased 

to  the pat ien ts  themse lves  and they  cou ld  have  sen t  the  in fo rmat ion  to  

the  med ica l  scheme i f  the  med ica l  sch eme wanted to  do  tha t ,  bu t  they 

re fused.   They  sa id  i t  i s  no t  the i r  du ty.   

 Tha t  i s  bas ica l ly  a  summary  o f  my ba t t le  w i th  D iscovery  Hea l th  

and the i r  assoc ia ted  med ica l  schemes and jus t  yes te rday I  a lso rece ived 

the  response  f rom them wh ich  came th rough  to  th is  CMS Sect ion  59  20 

secre ta r ia t  where they  s t i l l  de f ied and  con t inued to  ru le  out  my reques t  as 

base less and  non - factua l .   And  my take to  that  was,  as much as  I  cou ld  

g ive  them the in fo rmat ion they  need ,  I  shou ld  a lso  comp ly  w i th  some o f 

the  leg is la t ion .   I  am accoun tab le  to  the Hea l th  Pro fess ions  Counc i l  o f  

Sou th  A f r ica  un fo r tuna te ly  and  the  Hea l th  Pro fess ions  Ac t  a lso  requ i res 
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us to  fo l low cer ta in  processes  be fo re  we  can  g ive  away the  c l in ica l  and 

o ther  records  o f  pat ien ts  under  our  ca re .   And  when  I  re fe r red  h im,  Mr  

Ar ie l  Marcus ,  to  such  in fo rmat ion ,  he  d ismissed  i t ,  he  never  rea l ly  wan ted 

to  en te r ta in  i t .   He  on ly  emphas ised  tha t  in  te rms of  the i r  Counc i l  fo r  

Med ica l  Schemes and  in  te rms o f  the  Med ica l  Schemes Act ,  I  am 

supposed  to  g ive  them the  in fo rmat ion .   Bu t  my take  was they  exc luded 

th is  o ther,  you  know,  impor tan t  in fo rmat ion  tha t  shou ld  a lso  cover  me 

because  i f  I  d ivu lge  tha t  in fo rmat ion  and  I  am found  to  be  gu i l t y  I  am the 

one who shou ld  a lso  be  accoun tab le  to  the Hea l th  Pro fess ions Counc i l  of  

Sou th  Af r ica  and  I  a lso  no ted  tha t  he  d id  no t  quo te  anyth ing  f rom the 10 

Nat iona l  Hea l th  Ac t  wh ich  ta lks  to  the  r igh ts  and  du t ies  o f  the  p rov iders  o f  

hea l th  ca re.   The same Sect ion ,  Sec t ion  14  wh ich  ta lks  abou t  

con f iden t ia l i t y  and  Sec t ion  15 tha t  ta lks abou t  acc ess to  hea l th  records.   

 He  d id  no t  do  tha t  and  they  a lso  fa i led to  c la r i f y  wha t  they  meant 

when  they sa id  I  was  an  ou t l ie r  in  te rms o f  my p rac t ice .   And  I  cou ld  on ly  

f ind  tha t  yes te rday  when  I  rece ived  the i r  response  tha t  apparent ly  most  o f  

the i r  hea l th  ca re  p rac t i t ioners ,  psycho log is ts  use  a  ce r ta in ,  thank  you 

ve ry  much ,  used  a  ce r ta in  code  when  they  submi t  the i r  c la ims and  i t  i s  

expec ted  tha t  I  use the  same and  my unders tand ing  o f  ou r  p rac t ice  is  tha t 

the  med ica l  schemes have  a lso  made a  de te rmina t ion  on  how much  they 20 

pay fo r  the se rv ices tha t  we p rov ide .   And in  te rms o f  psycho logy 

se rv ices ,  the  c la ims are  submi t ted  on  the bas is  o f  the dura t ion taken  in  a 

consu l ta t ion  and  i t  ranges  f rom 1  minute  un t i l  2  hours .  

 As  I  looked  in to  my p rac t ice ,  the re  has  nev er  been  a  t ime  when  a  

c la im was submi t ted more  than  once  for  a  pa t ien t  fo r  a  same day 
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consu l ta t ion  o r  fo r  the  same consu l ta t ion .   And  i t  has  never  exceeded  the 

2 -hour  per iod  even  i f  the  ac tua l  consu l ta t ions  go  beyond  tha t  a t  t imes.   

So  I  s t i l l  d id  no t  unde rs tand what  he  meant ,  I  was  an  ou t l ie r.   I  th ink ,  in  

summary  tha t  i s  a l l  the  in fo rmat ion  abou t  ou r  p rac t ice  and … ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Can  you jus t  exp la in  the  issue  of  the 

usage  o f  the  code .   I  mean ,  i f  the  scheme’s  pos i t ion  is  tha t  they  expect  

p rac t i t ioners  in  a  par t i cu la r  a rea  do ing  the  same work  to  be  consis ten t  in  

te rms o f  the  use  o f  the  code  why do  you  say  tha t  i s  wrong?   

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Can you  repeat  tha t  p lease?   Why?  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :    I  am say ing  tha t  i f  th e  pos i t ion  of  10 

Discovery  is  tha t  you a re an ou t l ie r  because  you  a re  no t  us ing  the  code 

tha t  everybody  e lse  is  us ing ,  why  is  tha t  wrong?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   I  do no t  know why i t  i s  wrong .    

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Why is  the  scheme wrong  in  say in g  they 

expec t  cons is tency  even  by you?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Oh ,  bu t  tha t  i s  no t  bas ica l ly  what  

everybody  e lse  shou ld  be  us ing .   The  Board  o f  Hea l thcare  Funders  has 

p rov ided  fo r  the  p rac t i t ioner  codes  and  as  I  ind ica ted  the  cod ing  fo r  

psycho logy  s t a r ts  w i th  number  86  and  i t  goes  f rom 201 ,  which  is  a  

consu l ta t ion o f  ze ro to  ten  minu tes,  I  th ink so ,  to  code 86211  wh ich  is  a  20 

consu l ta t ion  be tween 111  minutes  up  to  120  minu tes .   And  they  do  not  

de te rmine  how long  one  shou ld  spend  wi th  the  pa t ien t  because  tha t  i s  the 

de te rminat ion  o f  the  c l in ic ian .  That  i s  the  de te rmina t ion  o f  the  p rac t i t ioner 

see ing the  pa t ien t .   You  can  see the  pa t ien t  fo r  30  minu tes and you 

shou ld  b i l l  fo r  the  30  minu tes  tha t  you  have  spen t  w i th  them.   I f  you  see 
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them fo r  two  hours  then  you  b i l l  fo r  two  hours  tha t  you  have  seen  them 

and  the med ica l  a id  has  been  pay ing .  

 And the re  is  a lso  a  p rov is ion  tha t  i f  you see  them fo r  longer  than 

two  hours ,  every  15  minu tes  you  can  b i l l .   Tha t  ou r  p rac t ice has  no t  done .  

I  poss ib ly  w ish  we  cou ld  ha ve  done  tha t  then  we  cou ld  be  cons idered  an 

ou t l ie r.  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS:   Mr  Mo lepo ,  can I  ask  you  someth ing abou t  the 

na tu re o f  your  p rac t ice  jus t  so we unders tand  i t  because  I  unders tand you  

have seen  the D iscovery  response and  i t  seems,  as  my co l league  has 

sugges ted ,  the i r  co re  issue  hav ing f lagged  you  as  an out l ie r  fo r  spend ing 10 

what  they  see  as  more  t ime  wi th  pa t ients  than  your  peers .   I s  the re  any  –  

I  mean  can  you exp la in  the natu re o f  your  p rac t ice and is  the re  any 

exp lana t ion fo r  th is  –  fo r  the t ime  you  spend  wi th  pa t ien ts?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Yes ,  I  can .  The  t ime  spen t  w i th  the 

pa t ien t  a lso  re la tes  to  the  na tu re  o f  the  prob lems they  p resen t .   Most  o f  

the  pa t ien ts  p resent  w i th  issues  tha t  requ ire  more  o f  c r is is  in te rven t ion , 

c r is is  managemen t ,  more  t rauma re la ted exper iences and at  t imes ,  an 

hour  o f  consu l ta t ion is  no t  a lways  suf f ic ien t  and  we  then  ex tend the 

consu l ta t ion  to  a t  leas t  two  hours  and  even  i f  we  exceed  two  hours  we 

know the  med ica l  a id  g ives  us  un t i l  two hours  to  see the  pa t ient .  20 

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS:   And  why is  i t  tha t  your  p ract ice  does th is  t ype 

o f  work  o r  how is  i t  come to  be  tha t  you  a re  see ing  pa t ien ts  who 

exper ience  t rauma o r  why  is  th is  your  c l ien te le?  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   And  why a re  o ther  peop le  a round  you 

no t  –  I  mean i f  the re  is  a  h igh inc idence  of  t rauma in  Po lokwane,  the 
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expec ta t ion is  tha t  a l l  o f  the psycho log is ts  in  the a rea  wou ld  a lso be 

see ing  pa t ien ts  p resen t ing  w i th  t rauma,  but  the  case  tha t  seems,  and  I  am 

no t  say ing  that  i t  i s ,  is  tha t  you a re the on ly  one  who is  spend ing  a  lo t  of  

t ime  wi th  h is  pa t ien ts  and  you say I  am spend ing i t  because of  t rauma.   

Bu t  then why is  t rauma assoc ia ted  w i th  your  p rac t ice and  no t  everyone 

e lse? 

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   No t  on ly  t rauma bu t  we  a lso 

dea l ing  w i th  fami l ies  an d coup les  where we  do  mar i ta l  in te rven t ions .   

Those  in  na tu re  requ i re  a  cons iderab le  amount  o f  t ime  to  ge t  in to  the 

issues  and  ass is t  the  peop le  in to  dea l ing  w i th  the  issues.   I  may not  10 

necessar i l y  be  the  on ly  one  dea l ing  w i th  a l l  those .   Yes ,  the re  are  a  few 

psycho log is ts  in  Po lokwane and  I  may no t  know the i r  t rends ,  wha t  cases 

they  see  and  I  may no t  be  ab le  to  respond on  the i r  beha l f  bu t  I  have  a lso 

p icked  up  and no ted  tha t  a  few o f  my co l leagues  have  rece ived a  s imi la r  

k ind  o f  co r respondence .   A l though  t hey  may no t  have  made submiss ions ,  I  

do  no t  know because they have  no t  to ld  me abou t  any submiss ions  to 

CMS bu t  i t  i s  a lmost  more  l i ke  we  a re  t reated in  the  same way.   

Everybody  is  an out l ie r  in  ou r  su r round ing .   

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Jus t  exp la in  that ,  because  tha t  might  

exp la in  someth ing  e lse  when  you  say,  my co l leagues  have  rece ived  the  20 

same le t te rs .   You  mean they  have  been  inves t iga ted  under  Sect ion  59  by 

D iscovery  fo r  spend ing  too  much  t ime  wi th  pa t ien ts?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   On  Sec t ion 59? 
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ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   When you  say  my co l leagues  have 

rece ived  s imi la r  co r respondence ,  what  does  tha t  mean?   Because we 

know your  case .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   Yes .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   So  we do no t  know when you say s imi la r,  

wha t  a re  you  ta lk ing  abou t?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   No ,  they  a re  s imi la r  in  te rms o f  the 

ema i l  f rom Discovery that  they  a re  an out l ie r  and they  shou ld  p rov ide 

such  records .   I  know one  o f  the  co l leagues  ca l led  me and  asked  me i f  I  

cou ld  ass is t  in  te rms o f  tha t .  10 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   So ,  a re  you  say ing  tha t  your  exper ience 

is  tha t  D iscovery is  comp la in ing about  too much  t ime spen t  w i th  pat ien ts  

fo r  everybody?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   I t  cou ld  seem l i ke .   I t  cou ld  seem 

l i ke  because  the  co l league  tha t  I  re f e r red  to  was  a lso expec ted  to  submi t  

c l in ica l  no tes  and  cop ies  o f  the  d ia ry,  everyth ing  tha t  was  requested  f rom 

me to  submi t .   

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   You wou ld  say the re is  no log ic  in  

everyone  be ing  an  ou t l ie r?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   No t  a t  a l l .  No t  a t  a l l .  I  wou ld  no t  20 

unders tand  and  espec ia l l y  tha t  they  do  not  necessar i l y  exp la in  wha t  a re  

the i r  expec ta t ions  and why shou ld  we no t  go beyond  the i r  expec ta t ions .   

ADV ADILA HASSIM:     Mr  Mo lepo ,  do you no t  ever  conduct  consu l ta t ions  

fo r  less  than  an  hour?  Or  wha t  D iscovery  says ,  less  than 51 minu tes?  

Are  your  consu l ta t ion  per iods  a lways  more  than  51  minu tes?    
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MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:   On  average  most  consu l ta t ions 

a re ,  yes,  be tween  51  and  60 minu tes but  the re  a re those  instances  where 

they  exceed  60  minu tes  and  less  than  51  minu tes  i t  i s  not  usua l .   I t  i s  not  

usua l ,  I  have  no t  had  such  consu l ta t ions more  regu la r ly,  i t  cou ld  have 

been  once  o r  tw ice  where  I ’ ve  seen ,  and  i ts  ch i ld ren ,  so  I ’ ve  seen  them 

fo r  ha l f  an  hour  and I  b i l led  fo r  ha l f  an  hour .   Un fo r tunate ly  i t  may no t  

have  been  wi th  D iscovery.  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   And how much  –  you  know what  amount  has  been 

c lawed back  by  D iscovery?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Somewhere in  the  reg ion o f  10 

R71 000 ,00  across  a l l  the  med ica l  schemes tha t  they  adm in is te r,  

Bankmed,  D iscovery  i t se l f ,  BMW, and  G lencore  I  th ink  those  a re the few I  

can  reca l l ,  they wan t  me to  pay  back  a l l  tha t  money because  I  d idn ’ t  g ive 

them the records they  needed  and every  t ime  the ca l l  cen t re  consu l tan ts  

ca l l  a f te r  send ing  an e -ma i l  I  a lways  ask them are  you  say ing  those 

peop le  have  consu l ted  fo r  f ree  and  they  a lways  p romise  tha t  they  w i l l  look  

in to  i t  and  they w i l l  come back  to  me bu t  to  th is  day  they never  came back 

to  me.   I  reques ted  to  speak  to  o ther  sen io r  peop le  in  the ca l l  ce n t re 

d iv is ions  and  in  the  inves t iga t ions  bu t  no  one  ever  ca l led  me back .   The 

on ly  commun ica t ion  I  had  was w i th  the  inves t iga t ing  p rac t i t ioner  h imse l f  20 

Ar ie l  Marcus ,  the  person  who  s ta r ted  th is  commun ica t ion  in  May las t  year.    

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  So Discovery  is  ye t  to  g ive  ev idence  bu t  i t ’s  

l i ke ly  tha t  they  w i l l  say  the  on ly  way  they can  ve r i f y  the  t ime  you  spent  

w i th  pat ien ts  is  by  look ing a t  the  c l in ica l  no tes  o r  the d ia r ies o r  your 

d ia ry.   What  wou ld  you  say  to  tha t  a l legat ion  and they  wou ld  a rgue i t ’s  
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fa i r?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Ja  I ’ ve  never  d ispu ted tha t  f rom 

the  onse t ,  I  have  ind ica ted  to  them the  c l in ica l  no tes  a re  here  i f  you  so 

w ish  you  can  come,  I ’ l l  a lso  ca l l  the  pa t ien ts  they ’ l l  come we ’ l l  do  the 

consen t  and  you  can  go  th rough  the  c l in ica l  no tes  bu t  I ’m no t  comfor tab le  

send ing  th rough to  your  Sand ton  o f f i ce  or  t rave l l ing w i th  them to  the 

o f f i ce  o r  send ing  them by  cour ie r.   I ’ ve  inv i ted  them severa l  t imes ,  they 

a re  the  ones  who  re jec ted  the  reques t .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Did  you  send  us  any  p roo f  tha t  you 

inv i ted  D iscovery  to  your  p rac t ice?  10 

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  I t ’s  in  the  e -ma i l .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Okay i t ’s  the  e -ma i ls  and where  do  they 

re jec t  i t?  

MR  LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  I t ’s  in  the e -ma i ls  they  have  a lso , 

they  a lso  responded  in  the i r  e -ma i ls  tha t  they  w i l l  no t  be  ab le  to  come I  

…( in te rvenes) .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  So is  your  i ssue a round  as who  shou ld  bear  the 

cos t  fo r  th is  in  te rms o f  the  t ime  spen t  because  you ’ re  say ing  they  can 

have  access  i t  w i th  the  pa t ien t  consent  obv ious ly  bu t  they  must  come to 

you  ra ther  than  you  come to  them,  so  is  i t  abou t  a  cos t  and t ime issue?  20 

MR  LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  On the i r  s ide  o r  on  my s ide?  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  Wel l  a re  you say ing  you  don ’ t  wan t  to  bear  the 

admin is t ra t ive  burden and the  t ime  and  cost?  

MR  LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Of send ing  them the  in fo rmat ion?  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  And get t ing the  consen ts?  
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MR  LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Maybe tha t  bu t  a lso  tha t  see ing 

tha t  they  a re  no t  w i l l ing  to  co -opera te  I  a lso  dec ided  I  w i l l  no t  co -operate  

w i th  them.   There ’s  an  e -ma i l  on  page  663 wh ich  was coming f rom Ar ie l  

Marcus  wh ich  ind ica tes :  

“The  onus  to  va l idate  the  c la ims is  on the se rv ice 

p rov ider  and  no t  the med ica l  a id  and so  we  a re  no t  ab le  

to  come to  your  o f f i ces  to  re v iew the no tes .   I  d id  not  ask 

you  to  come to  Johannesburg  as  you  a re imp ly ing  bu t  

s imp ly  asked  you  to  send the  no tes  th rough  to  me fo r  

rev iew a  reques t  tha t  i s  w i th in  the  con f ines  o f  the  law.   10 

We wi l l  recover  a l l  funds  c la imed by  yourse l f  fo r  the 

se rv ices  that  we  were  unab le  to  va l ida te  pend ing  the 

va l ida t ion o f  the c la ims fo r  those  se rv ices . ”  

Th is  was one  o f  the examples  o f  the i r  responses  tha t  they w i l l  

no t  come to  the  o f f i ce .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   So some o f  the  ev idence  we ’ve  heard  is  

tha t  they  w i l l  b lock  a  se rv ice  p rov ider,  they ’ l l  jus t  suspend  you  en t i re ly  o r  

they w i l l  make d i rec t  payments to  your pat ien ts  and then in  some 

ins tances  they  w i l l  jus t  deduc t  wha t  they  be l ieve  is  due  and  owing .   Do 

you  s t i l l  have  a  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  them where  you ’ re  s ubmi t t ing  c la ims 20 

every  month  o r?  

MR  LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Yes thank  you  fo r  ask ing  tha t ,  I  

th ink  I  was  go ing to  miss  i t .   What  they have  done  is  when  I  submi t  the 

c la im they  p rocess  i t  as  i f  i t  was  pa id  in to  a  p rac t ice  bu t  we  never  rece ive 

payment  and  they  then  ca lcu la te  i t  aga ins t  the  ou ts tand ing  ba lance  o f  the 
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R71 000 ,00  and to  poss ib ly  t ry  to  reduce  i t .   And most  o f  the pa t ien ts  I  

see  o r  some o f  the pa t ien ts  I  see  who  be long to  D iscovery  admin is te red 

med ica l  schemes wi l l  be  those  in  the  hosp i ta l .   I  have  ind ica ted to  them 

and I  have made a consc ious  dec is ion tha t  because  I  se rv ice pat ien ts  in  a 

p r iva te  hosp i ta l  loca l ly  as  we l l  in  Po lokwane I  w i l l  go  and ass is t  pa t ien ts  

who  be long  to  the i r  med ica l  scheme and  I  w i l l  submi t  the  c la ims bu t  I  

know they w i l l  not  pay.   I  usua l ly  a lso exp la in  tha t  to  the pat ien ts ,  I  see 

you  be long  to  Bankmed,  I  see  you  be long  to  D iscovery  I ’m go ing  to  he lp  

you  because  you  need  my he lp ,  I ’m go ing to  submi t  your  c la im bu t  your 

med ica l  scheme is  not  go ing  to  pay  so ,  and  I ’m no t  go ing  to  c la im i t  f rom 10 

you  e i the r  because  i t ’s  no t  your  fau l t .   

I  do tha t  and they  never  pa id  ever  s ince  and  those who come to  

the  p rac t ice  cu r ren t ly  ou r  a r rangement  is  they  consu l t  as  cash  pay ing 

pa t ien ts  and we g ive them the  s ta tement  o f  the accoun t  and  the  rece ip t  

then they  c la im f rom Discovery.   As  to  whether  D iscovery  pays them what  

they  wou ld  have  pa id  o r  no t  I  may no t  be  fu l l y  ce r ta in  bu t  I  know there ’s  

one o r  two  who  get   re funded .   Bu t  wha t  I ’ve  a lso no t iced  is  that  in  some 

ins tances  when  they  re f und the  pa t ien t  they  inc lude  tha t  money in to  a 

s ta tement  as  i f  we ’ re  owing  them so  we ’ re  con t inu ing  to  owe them even 

when  we don ’ t  c la im f rom the i r  scheme.    20 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   So a re you  now cur rent ly  runn ing  a  cash 

p rac t ice?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:  For  D iscovery  pa t ien ts  on ly  yes .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   For  D iscovery  tha t ’s  what  I ’m say ing .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  And ja  they,  those  tha t  are  w i l l ing  
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to  come those  tha t  wou ld  have cash a t  the i r  d isposa l  a re  the  ones  who 

a re  ab le  to  con su l t  bu t  unfo r tuna te ly  majo r i t y  a re  no longer ab le  to  

consu l t  a t  ou r  p rac t ice  and  some o f  them seem to  a lso  wor ry  you  know 

because  they have  sta r ted a  re la t ionsh ip  wi th  our  p rac t ice  and they  wou ld  

have  wan ted  to  con t inue  to  be  ass is ted a t  ou r  p rac t ice and  they  now 

somet imes ge t  to  a  s i tua t ion  where  D iscovery  is  the  one tha t  recommends 

to  them who they can see .    

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   And have  you  exper ienced tha t  where 

D iscovery  recommends to  your  pat ien ts  wh ich  p rac t i t ioner  they  shou ld  

v is i t?  10 

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Not  the  one  tha t  I ’ ve  se rv iced 

a l ready in  the pas t  but  those tha t  were in tend ing to  come fo r  the f i rs t  t ime 

when  we exp la in  to  them there  is  one  tha t  we  ind ica ted  we  exp la ined  to  

them tha t  we ’ re  hav ing  p rob lems wi th  D iscovery  a t  the mo ment  so  you ’re  

go ing to  pay  cash we ’ l l  g ive  you a s ta tement  o f  accoun t ,  they  d idn ’ t  have 

money,  they  d idn ’ t  have  cash ,  they  had  to  ca l l  D iscovery  and D iscovery  

d i rec ted  them to  someone e lse .   But  they  s t i l l  ca l led  us  and  sa id  you 

know I ’m no t  su re  i f  I  w i l l  be  comfor tab le  w i th  the  person  I ’m go ing  to  see 

because  tha t  i s  no t  the  person  I  chose in i t ia l l y.   Un fo r tuna te ly  because  we 

d idn ’ t  have  the i r  records  i t ’s  no t  up  to  us  to  fo l low up  w i th  them to  check 20 

whether  they were  sat is f ied  o r  no t  so  we  d idn ’ t  fo l low  up .    

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  One fu r the r  ques t ion  f rom my s ide ,  I ’m jus t  

s t rugg l ing  and  we have  had  other  psycho log is ts  g ive  ev idence  and  s imi la r  

ev idence  and  I ’ ve  pu t  these  ques t ions  to  those  psycho log is ts  so  I  must  do 

the  same wi th  you  but  I ’m s t rugg l ing  w i th  the  d i f f i cu l t y  that  the  schemes 



CMS : SECTION 59 INVESTIGATION : 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 – DAY 11 
  
 

 Page 69 of 80 
 

 

say  they  have  and  tha t  they ’ve  got  no  way to  va l ida te  the  length  o f  the 

per iod  you spend  wi th  pa t ien ts  and  f rom the i r  pe rspect ive  they ’d  say  look 

we  need the  c l in ica l  no tes o r  we  need  the  d ia ry.   So I ’m s t rugg l ing to  

unders tand  why no t  p rov ide  the  d ia ry the re  isn ’ t  any con f iden t ia l  

in fo rmat ion in  the re .   That ’s  the  f i rs t  quest ion  and  the second  one  is  i f  

you  p rov ided  the c l in ica l  notes  w i th  a l l  the pa t ien t ,  no t  the pat ien t  name 

bu t  a l l  the  c l in ica l  deta i l  b lacked out  wou ld  tha t  be  sa t is fac to ry  for  you?    

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  No i t  w i l l  no t  be  sa t is fac to ry  fo r  

me;  I  s t i l l  wou ld  fee l  I  wou ld  have done i t  w i thout  the  consent  o f  the 

pa t ien t  so  I  wou ld  not  –  I  w i l l  no t  be  comfor tab le  send ing  i t  th rough .   In 10 

te rms o f  the  d ia ry  … ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  Jus t  to  f in ish  w i th  tha t  ques t ion  but  why  no t 

because  the re ’ l l  be no th ing  wh ich is  pa t ien t  con f iden t ia l  in  tha t ,  i t  wou ld  

be  the name o f  the  pa t ien t  w i th  a l l  c l in ica l  no tes  redacted ,  wha t  makes 

you  uncomfor tab l e  abou t  tha t?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  The c l in ica l  no tes  a re  con f iden t ia l  

in fo rmat ion about  the pat ien t ,  in fo rmat ion f rom wh ich  we  come up  w i th  a  

d iagnos is  and  the  med ica l  a id  on ly  ge ts  the  d iagnos is  as  per  the  p rac t ice 

codes and the  ICD10 cod ing f ro m wh ich they  wou ld  p rocess  the payment .   

I f  they  wan t  c l in ica l  no tes some notes  a re  qu i te  long and  they  con ta in  20 

persona l  in fo rmat ion  abou t  the  pa t ien ts ,  in fo rmat ion  tha t  … ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   I  th ink  the  quest ion  rea l ly  i s  i f  you  cou ld  

b lack  ou t  the  personal  in fo rmat ion  and  g ive  tha t  to  D iscovery  wou ld  tha t  

so lve  the  p rob lem bu t  I  mean  your  po in t  i s  tha t  D iscovery  wants  the  no tes 

no t  b lacked  ou t  and tha t ’s  where  the consen t  be tween you and  them,  i t ’s  



CMS : SECTION 59 INVESTIGATION : 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 – DAY 11 
  
 

 Page 70 of 80 
 

 

no t  as  i f  they  have  o f fe red  you  the  op t ion  o f  b lack ing  ou t  anyth ing.  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  No they have  no t  o f fe red me tha t 

bu t  I  s t i l l  don ’ t  th ink i t  w i l l  he lp  because  … ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Why won’ t  i t  he lp  i f  you b lacked  i t  out  

and  you  on ly  had  names i f  the  on ly  i ssue is  we  wan t  ev idence tha t  you 

saw pa t ien t  X  fo r  th ree  hours?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Pat ien t  X  to  me shou ld  have  a 

name.    

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  Let  me be c lea r  about  my p roposa l  as  I  

unders tand  D iscovery ’s  pos i t ion they  ac tua l ly  look  a t  the c l in i ca l  notes  to  10 

de te rmine leng th ,  I  g ive  no  v iew on  whe ther  tha t ’s  r igh t  o r  wrong so  they 

migh t  say th ree pages  is  wor th  one hour I  don ’ t  know,  bu t  I  unders tand 

th is  i s  wha t  migh t  be  the  pos i t ion .   My p roposa l  i s  can you  no t  p rov ide the 

c l in ica l  notes w i th  th e  name on top and no th ing e lse bu t  you can g ive 

every th ing  e lse b lacked  ou t?  

MR  LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Maybe I  don ’ t  unders tand no th ing 

e lse ;  the  name wi l l  be  the  name of  the  pat ien t  on  top  and  the  no tes  w i l l  

be  abou t  the  reasons why the person  is  con su l t ing .    

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  So a l l  o f  tha t  is  b lacked  ou t .   I t  goes  to  why 

D iscovery  say  they need these notes ,  they don ’ t  need  i t  fo r  the conten t ,  20 

they  need  i t  fo r  the  leng th.  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  That  in fo rmat ion  b lacked  out ,  I  

don ’ t  th ink  they  wan t  i t  b lacked  ou t .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   I  mean  tha t ’s  the issue be tween  you  and  

them,  I  mean Discovery  wan ts the i r  no tes no t  b lacked  ou t  you  a re  say ing 
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I ’m no t  g iv ing  you  the  no tes not  b lacked  ou t  un t i l  the  pa t ien t  has 

consu l ted .   There  is  a  way  in  the  midd le  you  know wh ich migh t  so lve  the 

p rob lem wh ich  is  you g ive  them enough  in fo rmat ion  to  p rove the durat ion 

o f  the consu l ta t ion w i thou t  compromis ing  the conf iden t ia l i t y  but  the 

p rob lem is  that  you  a re  no t  ta lk ing to  D iscovery  about  reso lv ing  that  

p rob lem,  the re ’s  a  s ta lemate  to  say  come to  my o f f i ce  they  say  they ’ re  no t  

coming  and  they  te rmina te  your  payments .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  I ’m no t  su re I  fo l low bu t  my take is  

a lso  tha t  D iscovery  wan ts  the  no tes  because  that  i s  what  they  spec i f ied ,  

they  never  came back  to  me and  say  you can  send  us  a  sheet  where  i t  10 

on ly  has  the pa t ient  name on top  and you ’ve  covered  a l l  the  no tes and 

then on ly  the  da te  on  the  s ide  w i th  the  t ime .  

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  I  accep t  tha t .   The  quest ion comes f rom t ry ing 

to  p rob lem so lve  some o f  th is  in  re la t ion to  any recommendat ion  we  might  

make  go ing fo rward .   So  jus t  the  o ther  quest ion  then  wha t  i s  your concern 

w i th  o r  why  no t  p rov ide  your  d ia r ies  –  cop ies  o f  your  d ia r ies?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  The d ia r ies  con ta in  names o f  o ther  

peop le  as  we l l ,  i t  means f rom the  b lack ing ou t  I ’m go ing  to  have  to  incur  

the  t ime ,  the cos t  o f  the  t ime  of  hav ing to  b lack  them ou t  and  on ly  leave  

those tha t  be long  to  D iscovery,  I  th ink  tha t ’s  a  lo t  o f  work .  20 

ADV ADILA HASSIM :  With the  c l in ica l  notes ,  jus t  to  come back  to  the 

ques t ion  o f  the c l in ica l  notes  because you  sa id  you  spoke to  Ar ie l  Marcus 

and  –  is  tha t  a  man?  

MR  LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Yes he ’s  a  man.  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   And he  sa id ,  I  can ’ t  te l l  w i th  these ,  bu t  he  says  to 
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you  tha t  he doesn ’ t  wan t  to  read  the notes ,  d id  I  hear  you say  tha t ,  I  

though t  you  sa id  he ’s  … ( in te rvenes) .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Yes that ’s  wha t  he sa id  

…( in te rvenes) .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :  Not  in te res ted in  read ing  i t  he  jus t  wants  to  see 

tha t  they ex i s t .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  On the  phone ,  yes .   But  how do 

you  no t  read  the  no tes  when  you ’ re  hav ing  them a t  your  d isposa l?  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   I f  you  b lack  i t  out  then  you don ’ t  read  i t ,  you 

wou ldn ’ t  be  ab le  to  read  i t .  10 

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Then he  d idn ’ t  te l l  me  to  b lack  the 

no tes out .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Okay and  then  a  second ques t ion is ,  i s  i t  poss ib le  

f rom c l in ica l  no tes  to  de te rmine  the  amount  o f  t ime  –  wou ld  i t  g ive  you a 

sense  o f  the  amount  o f  t ime  you spen t  w i th  the  pa t ien t?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  No.  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   For  example  the  length  o f  the  notes ,  so  i f  the  notes 

were  two  pages  wou ld  tha t  ind ica te  that  i t  was  a  consu l ta t ion o f  a  ce r ta in  

leng th ,  i f  i t  was a  one page  o r  a  few l ines  wha t  wou ld  tha t  mean?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:  Unfor tunate ly  I  don ’ t  th ink  so ,  in 20 

15  minu tes you  cou ld  have  taken  no tes  tha t  cou ld  wor th  fou r,  f ive  pages 

and  our  consu l ta t ion  is  no t  just  abou t  wr i t ing  no tes  i t ’s  abou t  l i s ten ing  to  

the pat ien t  as we l l .   Somet imes we ta lk  to  them,  we conduct  counse l l ing 

o r  a  the rapy sess ion and then we g ive a  summary  notes a t  the end wh ich 

cou ld  be  a  few l ines  and  f rom tha t  you  canno t  say  the  consu l ta t ion  was 
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two  hours  o r  i t  was  15 minu tes .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   We heard  ev idence  o f  l ike  va r ied 

p rac t ices  t ha t  someone wi l l  consu l t  w i th  a  pa t ien t  fo r  th ree  hours  and  on ly  

wr i te  a  quar te r  o f  a  pages and so the  no tes  a re rea l ly  no t  re la ted  to  the 

dura t ion  o f  t ime .   Bu t  I  mean  to  come back to  the  issue  tha t  seems to  be 

be tween  you and  D iscovery,  D iscovery says  we  don ’ t  be l ieve  tha t  you ’ve 

consu l ted  fo r  the  durat ion  tha t  you  a re  c la iming  fo r  tha t ’s  wha t  the  cod ing 

p rob lem.   So  you  say  come to  my p rac t ice  ve r i f y  i t ,  they  say  we ’ re  not  

coming  and  they  suspend  you,  tha t ’s  rea l ly  the  sum to ta l  o f  wha t  i s  

happened .    10 

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  Last  quest ion  on  th is  I  mean you have  p rov ided 

us  w i th  a  copy  o f  the sp readshee t  now that  you  p rov ided  D iscovery  and 

cou ld  you  jus t  remind me how d id  you  ex t rac t  th is ,  wha t  in fo rmat ion  d id  

you  ext rac t  th is  f rom?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO:  I t ’s  f rom our  compute r  sys tem, 

each pat ien t  tha t  consu l t  we  p rov ide  –  we  punch  in  th is  in fo rmat ion  and i t  

s tays  on  our  compute r  sys tem and  we a lso  t i ck  on  the  d ia ry  tha t  the 

person  consu l ts .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Th is  is  a  fo rm  –  th is  is  a  d ia ry  in  essen ce? 

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  No th is  i s  … ( in te rvenes) .  20 

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   Wel l  in  essence  I ’m no t  say ing  i t  i s  your  d ia ry  bu t  i t  

bas ica l ly  says  when  th is  pa t ien t  came,  what  da te  and  wha t  t ime .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Yes we on ly  record  those  wh o 

came,  those  who  consu l ted  because the re  a re  peop le  who  make 

appo in tments  and  they  a re  no t  ab le  to  honour  the i r  appo in tments  so  we 
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don ’ t  inc lude  them in  here ,  we  on ly  record  those  that  have  consu l ted  and 

on  the  d ia ry  we ’ l l  e i the r  show by  a  t i ck  o r  by  a  c r oss  tha t  the  person  has  

o r  has  no t  come fo r  a  consu l ta t ion .    

ADV KERRY WILLIAMS :  I t  wou ld  be impor tan t  to  see  the cover  e -ma i l  

tha t  th is  was  sen t  w i th  because  ne i the r  your  a f f idav i t  o r  D iscovery ’s  

a f f idav i t  makes  ment ion  o f  th is  and  i t  does  seem to  be  eq u iva len t  to  a  

d ia ry  in  many ways  and  po ten t ia l l y  as good  an ev idence o f  a  consu l ts  and 

I ’d  l i ke  to  be  ab le  to  tes t  tha t .    

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Jus t  exp la in ,  I  mean  I ’m a lso  jus t  t ry ing 

to  ge t  some c la r i t y  on th is  document  because  i f  you  look a t  wha t  i t  says,  10 

so  fo r  ins tance  on  the  15 t h  o f  February  2017  a t  n ine  09 :00  the re  is  a  

pa t ien t  and  the re  is  a lso  the  med ica l  a id  and  the  number  the  opt ion  and 

the contac t  p resumably  o f  the  pa t ien t ,  so  tha t  means that  a t  09 :00  that  

pa t ien t  was  seen by  you?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Yes.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   And there  is  no  o ther  pa t ien t  tha t  came 

then on the  15 t h  o r  the  16 t h .   The fo l lowing  pa t ien t  came on the  17 t h ? 

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  In  te rms o f  the  d ia ry  the re  cou ld  be 

peop le  tha t  came on  the  s ame da tes  l i ke  on the  15 t h  i t ’s  on ly  one pa t ient ,  

i t  cou ld  be  the  on ly  pa t ien t  who  be longed to  D iscovery  but  o ther  s lo ts  20 

cou ld  have  been  taken  by  o ther  pa t ien ts .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   I  see,  so  inso fa r  as  D iscovery  is  

concerned  tha t  … ( in tervenes) .  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Th is  is  on ly  yes  D iscovery 

admin is te red schemes.  



CMS : SECTION 59 INVESTIGATION : 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 – DAY 11 
  
 

 Page 75 of 80 
 

 

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Oh I  see okay.   Bu t  wha t  would  be the 

d i f fe rence  be tween th is  and the  d ia ry  fo r  D iscovery ’s  purposes?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  I  do  no t  know what  the  d i f fe rence 

wou ld  be  because  … ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Then i f  you  a re happy  to  g ive  th is  to  

D iscovery  why  a re  you  not  happy  to  g ive  them your  d ia ry?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  I  am no t  unhappy  to  g ive  them the 

d ia ry  bu t  I  am unhappy to  po s t  the  d ia ry  th rough  to  them or  copy  and 

scan .   They  a re  we lcome to  come and  v iew the  d ia ry  tha t  I ’ ve  inv i ted  them 

severa l  t imes ,  I ’m no t  su re  i f  I ’m a lso  be ing  d i f f i cu l t  bu t  j a  I  th ink  I  a lso 10 

be l ieve  i t  shou ld  be  wi th in  my r igh ts  to  reques t  tha t .    

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Yes and  then  so  i f  they  have th is  they 

w i l l  know that  a t  09 :00  on  th is  day  you  saw th is  pa t ien t  bu t  they  won ’ t  

know fo r  how long  they  w i l l  jus t  know what  t ime  tha t  pa t ien t  came?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Yes and  fo r  them to  know the y 

cou ld  come to  the o f f ice  and v iew the  c l in ica l  notes .   What  I  had ind ica ted 

to  them …( in te rvenes).  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   But  the c l in ica l  no tes  won ’ t  ind icate  how long you 

consu l ted?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  I  put  the  t ime  on  the  s ide,  today’s  20 

26 t h  o f  Sep tember  9 :00  and  then  I ’ l l  do the notes and  then  I ’ ve  a lso 

s ta r ted  the  p rac t ice  o f  put t ing  the  t ime  when  the  sess ion  ends  so  that  

they  a re  ab le  to  see  the  leng th  o f  the sess ion  i t se l f .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Wel l  I  mean  I  p resume i f  you 

recons t ruc ted  i t  in  the  fo rm o f  a  sp readshee t  a f te rwards  they  w i l l  s t i l l  no t  
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accep t  that  because  they  wan t  to  see the  or ig ina l  no tes?  

MR  LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Yes I  suppose  so .    

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Anyway do  you  have  any th ing  e lse  to  

add?   I  mean  we have be en  ask ing  o ther  peop le  to  jus t  exp la in  the  impact  

o f  the  dec is ion  on  the  bus iness ,  the  impact  o f  the  c lawing  back  o r  the 

suspens ion  o f  payments?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  The impact  …( in te rvenes) .  

ADV ADILA HASSIM :   And i f  I  cou ld  jus t  add  to  tha t  you  can address 

them bo th ,  i s  the  impact  on  your  pa t ien ts ,  a re  the re  pa t ien ts  who  have 

s topped  see ing  you  and can they  be  re fe r red  eas i ly  to  o ther  c l in ica l  10 

psycho log is ts?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Well  w i th  the  pa t ien ts  i t ’s  d i f f i cu l t  

to  d raw conc lus ions  o n  that  bu t  they  a re  genera l ly  unhappy.   They  a re 

genera l ly  unhappy  tha t ,  you  know wi th  psycho log is ts  obv ious ly  i t ’s  no t  

l i ke  w i th  a  med ica l  se rv ice  because  when you s ta r t  a  counse l l ing 

re la t ionsh ip ,  a  the rapeu t ic  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  a  pat ien t  o r  w i th  a  hea l t hcare 

p rov ider  you don ’ t  look  fo rward  to  s ta r t ing  over  aga in  w i th  ano ther 

person .   Even  in  p ract ices  where ,  in  my exper ience as a  par tner  where I  

used  to  be  a  par tner  in  a  psycho logy  p rac t ice ,  the  pa t ien t  tha t  wou ld  have 

seen  my par tner  was no t  comfor tab le  see ing  me in  the  absence  o f  my 20 

par tner  and  v ice  ve rsa  because  they  fee l  I ’m go ing  to  s ta r t  over  aga in  and 

i t  b r ings back  every th ing ,  the  hea l ing w i l l  be de layed .   So  i t ’s  not  ve ry  

easy,  fo r  them i t ’s  d i f f i cu l t ,  I ’m not  su re  the re  cou ld  be  o thers  who  may 

have  moved on and  consu l t ing  w i th  o ther  co l leagues  o f  mine but  the re a re 

those tha t  have  s topped  consu l t ing  ever  s ince .    
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And in  te rms o f  my p rac t ice  the  impact  yes  I  fe l t  i f  … ( in te rvenes) .  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   And I  suppose  tha t  i f  you  a re  say ing  my 

co l leagues  a re  a lso  sub jec ted  to  the  same inves t iga t ion  you  wou ld  have  

pa t ien t  hopp ing?  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Yes.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Unt i l  they  f ind an  abso lu te ly  c lean 

doc to r  on  the  s ide  o f  the  scheme.  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  True ,  t rue .   There  was  –  s t i l l  on  

tha t  thank  you ,  the re was a  co l league  o f  mine  who  ca l led  me the  o ther 

t ime  to  check  i f  I  cou ld  see  some of  the  pa t ien ts  fo r  he r  who  were  in  the 10 

hosp i ta l  they were  members  o f  G lencore  and  D iscovery  o r  no  Bankmed.   

When I  ind ica ted  to  them I ’m no t  ab le  to  see  those  because  the hosp i ta l  

was  a  b i t  fa r  anyway a  few more  k i lomet res  away f rom where I  work ,  she 

a lso  ind ica ted  I ’m a lso  no t  see ing  D iscovery  pa t ients  anymore .   So  I  

suppose the se rv ice o f  psycho logy in  our  a rea  migh t  have  been  s l igh t ly  o r  

more  a f fec ted  in  te rms o f  see ing  D iscovery  re la ted  pa t ien ts .    

And  in  te rms o f  the prac t ice  yes  as  I  was  ind ica t ing the  impact  

was  fe l t  a t  the  end  of  the year  because  I  cou ld  no t  rece ive  any  payments 

fo r  the  pa t ients  tha t  I ’ ve  seen  who be longe d  to  the D iscovery  

admin is te red  med ica l  schemes and  I  have s ince  lea rn t  to  l i ve  w i th  i t .   I  20 

have  made peace  w i th  i t  and I  se rv ice those  that  I  can  se rv ice  and  I  

po l i te ly  t ry  to  ind ica te  to  those tha t  I  can ’ t  se rv ice  tha t  un for tuna te ly  

because  o f  those  reas ons we  a re  no t  ab le  to  he lp  you .   Bu t  i t ’s  a lso 

e th ica l ly  incor rec t  in  ou r  p rac t ice ,  in  ou r  v iew,  in  our  p ro fess ion ,  we  f ind 

ourse lves  hav ing to  do  i t  because  we know we need  tha t  income a t  the 



CMS : SECTION 59 INVESTIGATION : 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 – DAY 11 
  
 

 Page 78 of 80 
 

 

end  o f  the  day  as  we l l ,  that ’s  the  on ly  income we have .    

When  you ’ re  runn ing a  p rac t ice  fu l l t ime  and  no t  ge t t ing  an 

income anywhere  e lse  you  can ’ t  a f fo rd  to  se rv ice  everybody fo r  f ree yet  

the re  a re  those  who  are  ab le  to  ass is t  but  i t  can ’ t  be  everybody  espec ia l ly  

peop le  who be long to  a  med ica l  scheme who pay money t o  the med ica l  

scheme fo r  the  med ica l  scheme to  pay  fo r  the i r  se rv ices  and  we see  them 

fo r  f ree .   I t ’s  no t  the  same as  the  person  who  is  ou t  the re  unemployed  but  

exper ienc ing a  c r is is  and  they happen to  come to  you because the 

hosp i ta l  appo in tment  sys tem is  too  long,  the  next  t ime  they  w i l l  see  them 

i t ’s  in  th ree  months  and  they  need  ass is tance  immed ia te ly,  we ’ re  ab le  to  10 

ass is t  those ,  not  a lways  bu t  when  we can.   Bu t  w i th  those  tha t  be long  to  

the  med ica l  scheme i t ’s  rea l ly  a  burden  fo r  us .    

ADV TEMBEKA NGCU KAITOBI :   Thank you .   I  take i t  you  have  no th ing 

fu r the r  to  add  f rom your  o ra l  test imony today.  

MR LEPHODISA STEPHEN MOLEPO :  Yes I  be l ieve tha t  I  have p rov ided 

a  comprehens ive  summary  o f  every th ing  tha t  i s  on  the  desk  and I ’m a lso 

sa t is f ied w i th  the  in fo r mat ion I  p rov ided  and i f  the re ’s  any th ing ,  i f  I ’m 

a l lowed I  can  a lways  be  ab le  to  send  i t  in  wr i t ten  fo rm.  

ADV TEMBEKA NGCUKAITOBI :   Yes thank  you ,  ou r  secre ta r ia t  w i l l  be  in  

con tact  w i th  you i f  the re  is  any ou tstand ing  in fo rmat ion tha t  we  wou ld 20 

requ i re  f rom you  o r  your  p rac t ice .   Thank  you ,  the p roceed ings  a re 

ad journed  fo r  the  day,  we  w i l l  resume tomorrow a t  10 :00 .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS UNTIL 27  SEPTEMBER 2019  
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